MYOB Advanced

Construction Edition

Release Notes

2020.4



Contents

Introduction	5
Welcome to Construction Edition	5
Installing the Construction Edition	5
New Features	6
Subcontract Management	6
Subcontract Creation	6
Subcontract Specifics	7
Subcontract Screens	7
Compliance Tracking	7
Compliance Type Creation	8
Warnings About Compliance Issues	9
Construction-Specific Reports	10
Daily Field Reports	12
Generating and Processing Lien Waivers	21
Automatically Generating Lien Waivers	22
Outstanding Lien Waivers	26
Processing Lien Waivers	27
Photo Logs	28
Setting Up Photo Logs	28
Creating a Photo Log	29
Working with Photo Logs	30
Project Cost Codes	31
Project Budgets with Cost Codes	32
Project Billing by Task and Cost Code	34
Screens That Support Cost Codes	34
Screens That Temporarily Do Not Support Cost Codes	35

Project Cost Projections	36
Cost Projection Classes	
Cost Projection Entry	
Cost Projection Approval	
Changes to the Projects Screen	
Project Change Management	
Projects with the Change Order Workflow	42
Project Budget Freeze	42
Creating Change Orders	43
Change Order Approval	45
Change Order Printing	
Release of a Change Order	47
Change Order Reversal	
Change Order Classes	
Purchase Order Workflow with Change Orders	
Ability to Control the Original Committed Values	
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change 50
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change 50
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests Submittals Settings for Submittals	es to Change 50 51
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests Submittals Settings for Submittals Submittal Processing Workflow	es to Change
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change 50 51 51 52 52 54 54 54 54 54 55
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change 50 51 51 52 52 54 54 54 54 54 54 55 57
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change 50 51 51 52 52 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 55 55 57 57
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change 50 51 51 52 52 52 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 55 57 57 57
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change 50 51 51 52 52 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54
Converting Requests for Information and Project Issue Requests	es to Change 50 51 51 52 52 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 54

Retainage in Project Cost Commitments61
Material Stored Amount in Progress Billing Pro Forma Invoices 61
Production Data Tracking62
Improvements to the Project Balance Report63
Substantiated Billing
Supported Billing Types64
Configuring the System for the Substantiated Billing Report 64
Integration with Weather Services65
Configuring Integration with an External Weather Service65
Changes to the Projects Screen
Changes to the Daily Field Report Screen67
New Screens
Taxable Payment Reporting (TPAR)69
Enabling Payment Tracking69
Enabling Payment Tracking69 Tracking Payments70

Introduction

Welcome to Construction Edition

MYOB Advanced Construction Edition includes the following functionality:

- MYOB Advanced core functionality, including:
 - Project accounting by cost codes.
 - o Project change management.
 - Stored material tracking in pro forma invoices.
 - o Retainage support, including:
 - Ability to account for retainage in commitments (purchase orders and subcontracts) and in Account Payable documents.
 - Ability to account for retainage in project invoices, which include the draft invoices (pro forma) and Account Receivables invoices.
 - Taxable payments annual reporting (TPAR).
- Construction customization package functionality as follows:
 - Support for construction industry terminology.
 - o Management of subcontracts.
 - o Tracking of compliance issues.
 - o Reports specific to the construction industry.

This document details the features that relate specifically to the MYOB Advanced Construction Edition. For information on all of the changes introduced in MYOB Advanced 2020.4 (and in previous releases), see the Release Notes documents on the <u>MYOB Advanced Education Centre website</u>.

Installing the Construction Edition

To install MYOB Advanced Construction Edition:

- 1. Install an edition of MYOB Advanced that is compatible with the version of the Construction Edition customization package.
- 2. On the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000) enable:
 - Projects
 - Project Accounting
 - Change Order
 - Budget Forecast
 - Cost Codes
 - Project Quotes
 - Construction
 - Construction Project Management

Note: Construction Project Management is sold separately and requires a license.

- 3. Download the Construction Edition customisations.
- 4. Import and publish the customisations to the Publish Customisation screen (SM204505).

New Features

Subcontract Management

A subcontract is a document that represents a commitment with a supplier to provide goods and services for a project. The subcontract workflow is similar to the workflow of a purchase order that contains service lines and non-stock lines only. Accounts Payable bills are entered directly for a subcontract once the work has been completed and the AP document has been received from the supplier.

Subcontract Creation

Subcontracts are entered on the Subcontracts screen (SC301000), shown in the following screenshot. You can link subcontract lines to projects by specifying for each line a project and the following project specific entities: a sub job (project task), account group or inventory ID, cost code.

Subcontracts								
← Save & Close 🗒 ∽ +	<u>∎</u> Ç - K	$\langle \rangle \rangle$	Actions 👻 Rej	ports 👻 Add M	1atrix Item			
Subcontract Nbr.: SC-000002 ,0	* Supplier:	ELECCO - Florida	Electrical	ク / Line T	otal:	120,080.00		
✓ Hold	* Location:	RBYTEMAIN - Prir	nary Location	,O Disco	unt Total:	0.00		
Status: On Hold	Owner:			kempt Tot	0.00			
* Date: 6/08/2020 -	Currency:	AUD 1.00	 View base 	axable Tot	126,400.00			
Start Date: 6/08/2020 -	Supplier Ref.:			Тах То	tal:	12,640.00		
Description:				Retain	age Total:	6,320.00		
				Subco	ntract Tot	139,040.00		
Document Details Tax Details Supplier Info	Discount Details SC Hi	istory Prepayment	s Change Orders	Other Informatio	h Attributes	Compliance		
\circlearrowright + \checkmark × \mapsto x	1.							
B 🕼 🗋 *Branch Inventory ID *	Project Projec	t Task Cost Code	Line Description	l	JOM	Order Qty.	Unit Cost	Ext. Cost
> 🕼 🗋 RBYTEMAIN SUBCON	PR00000105 L01	16-220	L01 Electrical Sub	bcontract	LS	1.00 1	1,550.00	11,550.00
RBYTEMAIN SUBCON	PR00000105 L02	16-220	L02 Electrical Sub	bcontract	LS	1.00 1	1,550.00	11,550.00
RBYTEMAIN SUBCON	PR00000105 L03	16-220	L03 Electrical Sub	bcontract	s	1.00 1	1,550.00	11,550.00
C RBYTEMAIN SUBCON	PR00000105 L04	16-220	L04 Electrical Sul	bcontract	LS	1.00 1	1,550.00	11,550.00

Figure: Details of a subcontract on the Subcontracts (SC301000) screen

A subcontract entity is based on a purchase order of the *Normal* type and provides the following functionality:

- Ability to enter prepayments for subcontracts
- Ability to enter partial AP bills for subcontracts
- Ability to complete or cancel subcontracts fully or line by line
- Support for the following document workflow options:
 - Ability to approve or reject subcontracts with the standard assignment and approval map rules
 - o Ability to email subcontracts
 - o Ability to print subcontracts

- Support for other options that are similar to capabilities provided for purchase orders:
 - o Tracking subcontracts as project commitments
 - Change order functionality for project commitments
 - o Compliance tracking
 - o Tax calculation
 - o Supplier prices

Subcontract Specifics

Subcontracts differ from purchase orders in the following ways:

- Subcontracts do not include stock items and do not involve inventory management processes.
- Users define supplier-specific printed formats for subcontracts and purchase orders separately by using the respective mailing IDs:
 - PURCHASE ORDER: The printed format of a purchase order entered on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000)
 - SUBCONTRACT: The printed format of a subcontract entered on the Subcontracts screen (SC301000)
- Subcontracts do not use the purchase to order process and cannot be linked to sales orders.
- Subcontracts do not use the blanket order workflow, which is available for purchase orders.

Subcontract Screens

The following dedicated screens are provided for working with subcontracts:

- Subcontracts (SC301000): The data entry screen where you can create, edit, and process subcontracts
- Print/Email Subcontracts (SC503000): The mass-processing screen that is used for printing or emailing subcontracts

Compliance Tracking

Firms managing construction projects have requirements to protect their clients, suppliers, suppliers, and partners from the many potential issues associated with compliance. These compliance issues might be associated with federal, state and local governmental requirements, but may also be legal and procedural. Compliance tracking allows a firm to establish the compliance items that should be captured for different types of entities, so that this information can be used for in-place warnings to users and for reports on project exposure.

The following types of compliance items are provided by default and can be extended with more types that users can track and report on:

- Certificate
- Insurance
- Lien Waiver
- Notice
- Status

Compliance Type Creation

Users can configure common attributes that are available for all types of compliance, as well as define custom attributes for each compliance type on the Compliance Preferences screen (CL301000), as shown in the screenshot below.

Compliance Preferences 🛱	
Lien Waiver Settings Lien Waiver Reporting	Settings Custom Attributes Common Attributes
Attribute: Certificate	Q
Č + X ⊢ 🕅	Select - Attribute
E O D *Value	Select 🕐 ⊣⊣ 🔎
> 🕼 🗅 Safety Training Certification	🗄 Type 🕇
	> Certificate
	Insurance
	Lien Waiver
	Notice
	Other
	Status
	I< < > >I

Figure: Compliance Preferences screen

Once a compliance type has been configured, the compliance items of that type can be recorded and viewed on the Compliance Management screen (CL401000), as demonstrated on the screenshot below.

Co	omp	olian	ce Management 🗳	τ											
	Ċ	2	e ا م	× ↔ [x Y										
	All Records Certificates Insurance Policies Notices Lien Waivers Other Documents														
	Creation Document Type Creation Date			Creation † Date	Document	Category		Required	Received from Vendor	Received Date (Vendor)	Received from Joint Payee (Vendor)	Received Date (Joint Payee (Vendor))	Processed		
	0	\square	Insurance	8/01/2020				v	\checkmark	1/02/2020					
	0	\Box	Insurance	1/02/2020				\checkmark							
	0		Certificate	7/02/2020	Safety Tra	ining Certifica	tion	\checkmark	\checkmark	31/12/2019					
	0		Certificate	12/02/2020	Safety Tra	ining Certifica	tion		\checkmark	12/03/2020					

Figure: Usage of a compliance type for recording a compliance item

Warnings About Compliance Issues

Each compliance item can be associated with various types of documents and with multiple entities, such as project, sub job or schedule of values (project task), cost code, supplier, and customer. On the Compliance tab of each of the screens listed below, the users can enter and review the compliance items associated with the entity:

- Suppliers (AP303000)
- Bills and Adjustments (AP301000)
- Checks and Payments (AP302000)
- Customers (AR303000)
- Invoices and Memos (AR301000)
- Projects (PM301000)
- Project Tasks (PM302000)
- Project Transactions (PM304000)
- Purchase Orders (PO301000)
- Subcontracts (SC301000)
- Change Orders (PM308000)

Based on the entered information, the system warns users of any records with compliance issues where applicable. For example, if a compliance item is overdue, the system displays a warning message, as demonstrated on the screenshot below.

Customers	ustomers													
Save & Close 🛛 🗎	∽ + D - Ó) IK	$\langle \rangle \rangle$	View	Account Act	ions 👻 In	quiries 👻	Reports 👻						
* Customer ID:	EQUGRP - The Equity	Group 🔎	* Status:	Active	▼ Ba	lance:		12,741,372.5	3					
* Customer Name: The Equity Group Investors Prepayment Balance: 0.00														
Retained Balance: 670,598.57														
General Info Billing Settings Delivery Settings Locations Payment Methods Contacts Salespersons Attributes Activities GL Accounts Mailing Settings Compliance														
× + ڻ	↔ X													
① □ Expiration Date	* Document Type		Creation Date	Stat	us			Required	Received from Vendor	Received Date (Vendor)	Processed			
> 0 🗋 31/12/2020	Certificate		1/03/20	20				\checkmark	\checkmark	1/03/2020				
● ◎ □ 31/01/2020	Insurance		1/02/20	20				\checkmark						
Compliance docu	Compliance document is expired.													

Figure: Warning about a record with compliance issues

Construction-Specific Reports

The following inquiries, dashboards, and reports are available:

- Commitments by Supplier Summary (CU000002): This inquiry screen lists suppliers with open commitments (purchase orders or subcontracts) within the specified date range. Commitments are totalled together to provide an order quantity, open quantity, overall total, and open balance across all commitments. Additionally, the list can be filtered for a single project, supplier, account group, or inventory item. The user can click the hyperlinks in the **SupplierID** and **Supplier Name** columns to view the line item details by open commitment.
- Supplier Commitments Details (CU00001): This inquiry screen lists open commitment line item details for the selected supplier, project, account group, or inventory item (for example, labour, materials, subcontracts, and the like). The user can click the hyperlinks in the Account ID, Project, PO/Subcontract No, Account Group/Item, and Cost Code columns, to obtain detailed information associated with the applicable column. For example, by clicking the hyperlink in the PO/Subcontract No. column, the user can navigate to the Purchase Order (PO301000) or Subcontract (SC301000) screen, where the user can print, edit, or otherwise work with the entity.
- Project Summary (CU000003): This inquiry screen provides a high-level view of contract, costs, and gross profit. A user can click the hyperlinks in the Project, Description, and Open Committed Costs columns to obtain detailed information associated with the applicable column. For example, if a user clicks the link in the Open Committed Costs column, the system navigates to the Commitments (PM306000) screen, which provides a detailed list of commitments for the associated project.
- *Project Dashboard (CU000013)*: The default configuration of this dashboard gives users an overview of the costs by project, contract status by project, and gross profit by project in a grid format. The columns of data shown in each grid can be displayed as separate widgets that use a variety of chart types, such as doughnut. The dashboard can be customized to meet the needs of your company.
- *Project WIP (CU000004)*: This report gives users a way to track the progress and financial performance of project contracts while using that data to forecast future performance. If a user drills down to a record, the system navigates to the *Project WIP Detail (CU000005)* report.
- *Project WIP Detail (CU000005)*: This report provides users with a way to track the progress and financial performance of project contracts while using that data to forecast future performance at a task (sub job) and cost code level.
- Subcontract Short Form (CU000006): This report provides a snapshot of the contract details broken down by task, sub job, cost code, and account group or inventory item.

Note: We recommend that you customize the report to meet the needs of your company.

• Subcontract Agreement Long Form (CU000011): This report is a sample of a full contract outlining the details of the agreement.

Note: We recommend that you customize the report to meet the needs of your company.

- Conditional Waiver on Progress Payment (CU000008): This report provides a sample release of partial lien rights when the current payment has not been received and future payments are expected.
- Conditional Waiver on Final Payment (CU000007): This report provides a sample release of the remaining lien rights when the current payment has not been received and no future payments are expected.
- Unconditional Waiver on Progress Payment (CU000010): This report provides a sample release of partial lien rights when the current payment has been received and future payments are expected.
- Unconditional Waiver on Final Payment (CU000009): This report provides a sample release of the remaining lien rights when the current payment has been received and no future payments are expected.
- *Compliance by Supplier (CU000014)*: This report lists compliance items matching the report parameters in three categories: non-project/commitment items, project/non-commitment-related items, and project/commitment-related items.
- Compliance by Project (CU000012): This report lists compliance items matching the report parameters in two categories for each project: subcontractor (supplier)/non-commitment-related items and subcontractor (supplier)/commitment-related items.
- *Project Profit Analysis (CU000015)*: This report provides a snapshot of the original profit compared to the revised profit.
- *Project Performance (CU000016)*: This report provides a snapshot of the project performance to date with both profit and markup values.
- Project Cost Budget Status (CU000017): This report provides detail on the cost budget of a project, showing budgeted, committed, and actual amounts resulting in the remaining budget values per project task (sub job) and overall totals for the project. By drilling down to a project record, a user can navigate to the Projects (PM301000) screen. By drilling down to a project task (sub job) record, the user can navigate to the Project Tasks (PM302000) screen.
- *Subcontract Audit (CU000018)*: This report gives a snapshot of each subcontract, showing the subcontract amount, changes, invoices, and outstanding balance.
- Subcontract (SC641000): This report displays the subcontracts created in the Subcontracts module; you can print and email these subcontracts.
- Subcontract Summary (SC610500): This report shows summary information about subcontracts that are neither closed nor cancelled.
- Subcontract Details by Supplier (SC611000): This report displays detailed information about subcontracts that are neither closed nor cancelled. The data in this report is grouped by supplier.
- *Project Cost Transaction History* (PM706230): Displays a list of cost transactions by project for a project manager to review.
- *Customer Transaction History* (PM706210): Displays a list of customer transactions by project and allows the user to review the details of customer invoices, credit memos, debit memos, payments and voided payments with the Open, Voided, or Closed status. This indicates possible cash flows and helps the user determine how timely customers are paying their invoices.
- Supplier Transaction History (PM706220): Displays a list of supplier transactions by project and allows the user to review the details of related open invoices.
- *Project Billing* (PM706300): Displays a list of unbilled projects and their details, such as the last billing date and last activity date.

Daily Field Reports

In the construction industry, a lot of independent activities may take place on a project site and in the office. To make sure that everyone is looking at the same data and that the data has been transferred from the field to the office accurately, *daily field reports* may be used by project managers and site supervisors to record observations, activities, and conditions that occur on a project site every day.

In MYOB Advanced Construction Edition, the functionality of daily field reports (*DFR*) provides members of a project team with a single location for viewing, tracking, and emailing updates about daily project activities, such as employee activities or subcontractor activities, as well as about daily weather observations, visitors to the site, and potential changes to a project budget.

Setting Up Daily Field Reports

On the Project Management Preferences screen (PJ101000), the **Daily Field Report Settings** group of settings is available (shown in the screenshot below).

General Settings	Daily Field Report Copy Settings	Weather Service Integration Settings	Sub	mittal Settings				
Due Date Calcula	ation			Project Issue S	ettings			
* Due Date Calcu	ulation Type: Se	quential Days (incl. weekends)		* Project Issue	Numbering Sequence:		PROISSUE - Project Issue	Q
Calendar:			Ø	Project Issue	Assignment Map:			, Q
Request For Info	rmation Settings			රා +	×			
* RFI Numbering	Sequence: RE	QFORINFO - Request For Informat 🔎	0	-	-	-		
Default Email N	Notification: E-I	Mail Request For Information (v2) - I 🔎		Project I:	isue Type	Descrip	ption	
RFI Assignmen	t Map:	م	0	Accident		Accid	ent or emergency	
Daily Field Repor	rt Settings			Safety Vi	olation	Violat	ion of safety regulations	
* DFR Numberin	g Sequence: DF	REPORT - Daily Field Report	0					
DFR Approval I	Map:	Q	0					
Pending Appro	val Notification: Da	ily Field Report	0					
	Z E	nable History Log						

Figure: Daily Field Report Settings group of settings

Before users can starting using daily field reports, a numbering sequence should be entered in the **DFR Numbering Sequence** box and the changes should be saved.

In the **DFR Approval Map** box, an approval map for daily field reports can be specified.

In the **Pending Approval Notification** box, a notification template can be specified. The system will use this template to generate notification emails for employees who approve daily field reports. An employee will receive an approval notification when a daily field report requires approval from this employee.

The **DFR Approval Map** and **Pending Approval Notification** boxes are available only if the *Approval Workflow* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

The Project Management Preferences screen (PJ101000) also contains a **Daily Field Report Copy Settings** tab. On that tab, settings of daily field reports are listed. If the check box is selected for a setting, the setting will be copied from an original daily field report to its copy created through the use of the standard **Copy** and **Paste** actions on the screen toolbar of the Daily Field Report screen (PJ304000). By default, the settings are read-only. To be able to modify the list of settings, select the **Override Default Copy-Paste Settings** check box.

roject Managem	ent Preferences 🖄			
General Settings	Daily Field Report Copy Settings	Weather Service Integration Settings	Submittal Settings	
Common				
Override Def	fault Copy-Paste Settings			
Daily Field Repor	t Summary	Subcontractors	Equipment	
Notes		Supplier ID	Equipment ID	
Date		Project Task	Project Task	
Project Mana	ager	Cost Code	Cost Code	
Labor Time And A	Activities	Number of Workers	Billable	
Employee		Arrived	Setup Time	
🔽 Earning Type	2	Departed	🗌 Run Time	
🖉 Project Task		Working Hours	Suspend Time	
Cost Code		Description	Description	
Time				
🗌 Time Spent				
Billable				
🗌 Billable Time	•			
Description				
Task				
Certified Job				
Union Local				
Labour Item				
WCC Code				
Contract				

Figure: Daily Field Report Copy Settings tab

Creating Daily Field Reports

A user can create a daily field report on the Daily Field Report (PJ304000) screen (shown in the following screenshot).

Daily Field Report																🗅 Notes
← Save & Clos	e 🖹 🖒 🕂	Ô -	K K 3	> >	Print/Email	Action	S ¥									
* DFR ID:	DFR-000002	,0 * Pr	roject:	PR00000106 -	Flager Cus	torr ,P	Site Addre	ess:	91 Cher	ry Grove		Ter	nperature:		0.00	
Status:	On Hold	roject Manager:	Manager: EP00000006 - Belcher Josep 🔎					Roger River			Hu	midity(%):		0.00		
	- Hold	C	reated By:	By: james_field - James Brading					AU - AU	STRALIA	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	D Tin	ne Observe	d:		
* DFR Date:	19/08/2020 *						State:		TAS - Tasmania		5	P				
							Postal Cod	Postal Code:		7330 View on Map						
							Latitude:									
							Longitude	E .								
Labor Time And Act	vities Change Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Log	s Notes	Equipment	Weather	Visitor	s Employ	yee Expenses	Approvals	History			
0 + ×	↔ X															
🗟 🖟 🗋 *Employee	Employee N	ame	*Earning Type	* Project 1	ask.	*Cost Code	Time	Time Spen	ŧ	Billable	Billable Time	*Description			Last Modified I	ly
* 0 D							9:00 AM	00:0	0	1	00:00					

Figure: Daily Field Report (PJ304000) screen

For a new daily field report, a user should specify the related project in the **Project** box and, in the **Project Manager** box, the employee who is responsible for managing the project and is authorized to approve the daily field report.

In a daily field report, the user can enter information about activities of specific employees, linked change requests, subcontractor works, associated project issues, weather conditions observed on the project site, and visitors to the site.

When the user saves the new record, the identifier in the **DFR ID** box is generated automatically in accordance with the numbering sequence specified for daily field reports on the Project Management Preferences screen (PJ101000).

Entering Labour Time and Reporting Activities

On the **Labour Time and Activities** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can select the employee whose activity should be included in the daily field report and specify the earning type, the sub job, and the cost code for the activity. Also, the user can enter the time that the employee spent on the activity and specify whether this time is billable. The user can enter multiple lines if the employee performed different activities or if activities were performed by different employees.

The user can update or delete only those time activity lines that have the *Open* status and are not included in employee timecards.

Daily Field Report	Daily Field Report												🗅 Notes			
← Save & Clos	e 🗒 🖒 +	Ô Ĉ-	K K	> >	Print/Email	Action	S ♥									
* DFR ID: DFR-000002 Project: PR00000106 - Flager Custorr P Site Address: 91 Cherry Grove Temperature: 0.00																
Status:	Status: On Hold * Pro			Manager: EP00000006 - Belcher Josep 🔎					Roger R	iver		Hun	hidity(%):		0.00	
	✓ Hold		Created By:	james_field - J	lames Brad	ing	Country:		AU - AU	STRALIA	j.	O Time	e Observe	d:		
* DFR Date:	19/08/2020 -						State:		TAS - Ta	ismania	ر	0				
							Postal Code:			7330 View						
							Latitude:									
							Longitude	s								
Labor Time And Act	ivities Change Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Log	gs Notes	Equipment	Weathe	r Visitor	s Employ	/ee Expenses	Approvals	History			
Ŏ + X	↔ X															
🖹 🖟 🗋 *Employee	e Employee N	ame	*Earning Type	* Project	Task	*Cost Code	Time	Time Spen	t	Billable	Billable Time	*Description			Last Modified	By
* 🛯 🗆	* 🖗 🗅 🖉 🖉				RG 9:00 AM 00:00 C 00:00 construction							construction	- construction			

Figure: Labour Time and Activities tab

Associating Change Requests

On the **Change Requests** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can associate an existing change request (that was previously created for the project) with the daily field report by using the **Add Row** button on the screen toolbar.

Also, the user can click **Create New Change Request** on the screen toolbar. As a result, the Change Requests screen (PM308500) opens, with the project and customer copied from the daily field report and non-editable. After the user saves the change request, it is automatically associated with the daily field report and listed in the table on the **Change Requests** tab.

The user can associate as many change requests with a daily field report as needed.

D	aily Field Report																	
•	← Save & Clo	se 🗒 🖍	+ 🛍	Ô.	I< <	> >	Print/	Email Ac	tions	5 -								
	* DFR ID:	DFR-000003		,0 * Pro	oject:	PR00000	109 - The	Beach Ho 🔎		Site Addr	ess:	30 Fre	ederick S	reet	Те	mperature:		0.00
	Status:	On Hold		* Pro	oject Manag	en: EP00000005 - Palmer Michae 🔎				City:	(Gold Coast			H	umidity(%):		0.00
		🗹 Hold		Cri	eated By:	construct	tion - const	uction		Country:	1	4U - A	AUSTRAL	۶ AI.	D Tir	me Observe	d:	
	* DFR Date:	12/10/2020 -								State:				Ş	C			
										Postal Co	I Code: 4217		View on Map					
								Latitude:										
										Longitud	e:							
	Labor Time And Act	ivities Change R	equests Chan	ige Orders S	ubcontracto	ors Project Is	sues Pho	to Logs No	tes	Equipment	Weather	Visit	tors Emp	oloyee Expenses	Approvals	History		
	ٽ + ×	Create New Ch	nange Request	↔ 🗵	C													
	Reference Nbr.	Change Date	Ext. Ref. Nbr.	Description	St	atus	Cost Tot	al Line T	otal	Marku Tota	р Р I Т	Price Total	Last Modi	fied By	Last Modif Date	ication		
>	000001	12/10/2020		Change re	quest C	n Hold	0.0	0 0	.00	0.00	0 0	0.00	construct	ion - constructio	n 12/10	/2020 8:11	,	

Figure: Change Requests tab

Associating Change Orders

On the **Change Orders** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can associate an existing change order (that was previously created for the project) with the daily field report by using the **Add Row** button on the table toolbar.

Also, the user can click **Create New Change Order** on the table toolbar. As a result, the Change Orders screen (PM308000) opens, with the project and customer copied from the daily field report and non-editable. After the user saves the change order, it is automatically associated with the daily field report and listed in the table on the **Change Orders** tab.

The user can associate as many change orders with a daily field report as needed.

The **Change Orders** tab is available only if the *Change Orders* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

* DFR ID:	DFR-000003		× ۱	Project:	PR00000109 -	The Beach	Ho 🔎	Site Add	ress:	30 Frede	rick Street	Te	emperature:		0.00
Status:	On Hold		*	Project Manager:	EP0000005 -	Palmer Mich	nae 🔎	City:		Gold Coa	ast	н	umidity(%):		0.00
	🛃 Hold			Created By:	construction -	construction		Country		AU - AUS	STRALIA 🖉	Ті	me Observed:		
* DFR Date:	12/10/2020 -							State:			2	>			
								Postal C	ode:	4217	View on Map				
								Latitude							
								Longitud	de:						
Labor Time And A	tivities Change	Requests Ch	ange Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Logs	s Notes	Equipment	Weather	Visitors	Employee Expenses	Approvals	History		
с + х	Create New 0	hange Order	↔ <u>N</u>	3											
*Reference Nbr.	Class	Customer	Customer N	lame	Co Ch	ntract Time ange, Days	Revenue Ch	nange Nbr.	Ext. Ref. N	lbr.	Description	S	tatus	Revenue Budget Change Total	Commitme Change To

Figure: Change Orders tab

Reporting Subcontractor Activities

On the **Subcontractors** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can add information about subcontractors, which may include the number of workers who worked on site during the day, the number of hours they worked, and the cost codes associated with the performed work.

← Save & Cl	ose 🖺	∽ +	0 ·	I< <	> >	Print/Email	Action	5 🔻							
* DFR ID:	DFR-00	0003	* ۵	Project:	PR00000109	- The Beach H	0 0	Site Ad	dress:	30 Fre	ederick St	reet	Te	emperature:	0.0
Status:	On Hold	ł	*	Project Manager:	EP0000005	- Palmer Micha	ie 🔎	City:		Gold	Coast		н	lumidity(%):	0.0
	🗸 Hold			Created By:	construction -	- construction		Countr	y:	AU - A	USTRAL	IA	,Р	ime Observed:	
* DFR Date:	12/10/2	020 -						State:					Q		
								Postal	Code:	4217		View on M	ар		
								Latitud	e:						
								Longitu	ide:						
Labor Time And A	tivities C	hange Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issue	s Photo Logs	Notes	Equipment	Weath	er Visit	tors Emp	loyee Expens	es Approvals	History	
ڻ + ×	↔	X													
🖻 🕕 🗅 *Supplie	ID	Supplier Name	* Projec Task	t *Cost Code	Number of Workers	Arrived	Departe	d Wo Hou	rking Irs	Working Hours Total	*Descr	iption L	ast Modified By	1	Last Modification Date

Figure: Subcontractors tab

Associating Project Issues

On the **Project Issues** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can associate an existing project issue (that was previously created for the project) with the daily field report by using the **Add Row** button on the screen toolbar.

Also, the user can click **Create New Project Issue** on the screen toolbar. As a result, the Project Issue screen (PJ302000) opens, with the project copied from the daily field report and non-editable. After the user saves the project issue, it is automatically associated with the daily field report and listed in the table on the **Project Issues** tab.

The user can associate as many project issues with a daily field report as needed.

C	aily Field Report													
	← Save & Clos	se 🛱 🖒 🕂	Ô .	K K	> >	Print/Email	Action	s ¥						
	* DFR ID:	DFR-000003	,0 * Pri	oject:	PR00000109	- The Beach H	0,0	Site Ade	dress:	30 Frederi	ck Street	Tempera	iture:	0.00
	Status:	On Hold	* Pri	oject Manager:	EP0000005	- Palmer Micha	ae 🔎	City:		Gold Coas	t	Humidit	y(96):	0.00
		V Hold	Cr	reated By:	construction -	construction		Country		AU - AUST	RALIA J	D Time Ob	served:	
	* DFR Date:	12/10/2020 -						State:			ş	C		
								Postal C	ode:	4217	View on Map			
								Latitude	в 🗌					
								Longitu	de:					
	Labor Time And Act	ivities Change Requests	Change Orders S	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Logs	Notes	Equipment	Weather	Visitors	Employee Expenses	Approvals Hist	ory	
	ک + ×	Create New Project Iss	ue ↔ 🕅											
100	*Project Issue ID	Summary		Status		Priority	Project T	ask	Project Issu	іе Туре	Last Modified By		Last Modification Date	
	IS-000003	Hole in wall needs pate	hing	Open		Medium					james - James E	Brading	10/08/2020 10	
>	IS-00008	Design change for 2nd	Floor	Open		Medium					james - James B	Brading	10/08/2020 11	

Figure: Project Issues tab

Associating Photo Logs

On the **Photo Logs** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can associate an existing photo log (that was previously created for the project) with the daily field report by using the **Add Row** button on the table toolbar—see "Photo Logs" on page 28.

Also, the user can click **Create New Photo Log** on the table toolbar. As a result, the Photo Log screen (PJ305000) opens, with the project copied from the daily field report and non-editable. After the user saves the photo log, it is automatically associated with the daily field report and listed in the table on the **Photo Logs** tab.

The user can associate as many photo logs with a daily field report as needed. For each photo log in the table, a preview of its main photo (if any) is shown in the **Main Photo Preview** area.

Daily	Field Report														
÷	Save & Clo	e 🖹 🖒 🕂	0 ¢ -	۲< ۲	> >	Print/Email	Action	15 ¥							
* D	PFR ID:	DFR-000003	* م	Project:	PR00000109 -	- The Beach H	lo 🔎	Site Addr	ess:	30 Freder	ick Street		Terr	nperature:	0.00
St	tatus:	On Hold	*	Project Manager:	EP0000005 -	Palmer Micha	a: 🔎	City:		Gold Coas	st		Hur	midity(%):	0.00
Labo	or Time And Act	ivities Change Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Logs	Notes	Equipment	Weathe	er Visitors	Employee Exper	ises Approv	als	History	
Õ	+ ×	Create New Photo Log	↔ X											Main Photo Previ	ew
₽ * Pi	hoto Log ID	Status	Date	Project Task	Description	Creat	ted By		La	st Modified B	y L P	ast Aodification Pate			
> PL	-000003	N/A	12/10/2020			cons	struction	- construction	cc	onstruction -	construction	2/10/2020 8	2		

Figure: Photo Logs tab

Adding Notes

On the **Notes** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can report additional information for a day by using the **Add Row** button on the table toolbar. The user can type a description for the note and attach files to it.

Daily Field Report													
← Save & Clos	se	≞ ∽ +	Û Ô-	I< <	> >	Print/Email	Action	15 👻					
* DFR ID:	DFR	-000003	* م	Project:	PR00000109 -	The Beach H	o ,0	Site Add	ress:	30 Freder	ck Street	Ter	mperature
Status:	On H	lold	*	Project Manager	EP0000005 -	Palmer Micha	e P	City:		Gold Coa	st	Hu	midity(%)
Labor Time And Act	tivities	Change Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Logs	Notes	Equipment	Weather	Visitors	Employee Expenses	Approvals	History
с + х	↔	X											
🗟 🕕 🗋 Time		*Description		Last M	Aodified By		Last N	Iodification Da	te				
> 🕕 🗋 8:53 AM		Clear productive da	у	cons	truction - constru	uction	12/10	0/2020 8:53 A	м				

Figure: Notes tab

Tracking Equipment Used

On the **Equipment** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can select the equipment that was used on the project and specify the sub job, the cost code, and the time for which the equipment was utilized; also, the user can specify whether that time is billable. The user can enter multiple lines if various equipment should be included in the daily field report. Each new entry on this tab updates the timecard for the corresponding equipment; if no corresponding equipment timecard exists in the system, a new timecard is created.

The user can update or delete lines that are not included in equipment timecards and lines associated with equipment timecards with the *On Hold* status.

The **Equipment** tab is available only if the *Project Accounting* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

* DFR ID:	DFR-	00003	• ۹	Project:	PR00000109 -	The Beach Ho	2	Site Addres	s:	30 Frederic	k Street	Ter	mperature:		(
Status:	On Ho	old	*	Project Manager	EP0000005 -	Palmer Michae	ρ	City:		Gold Coast		Hu	imidity(%):		(
abor Time And Ac	tivities	Change Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Logs	Notes	Equipment V	eather	Visitors	Employee Expenses	Approvals	History		
ン + ×	↔	X													
Equipme	ent ID	Equipment Description	* Project Ta	isk *Cos Cod	t Setup le Time	Run Time	Suspend Time	d Billable	Des	cription	Last Modified	i By		Last Modification Date	Time Card Ref.
0 D		Q													

Figure: Equipment tab

Reporting Weather Observations

On the **Weather** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can report weather conditions, such as sky condition, temperature, precipitation, wind, and site conditions, observed on the project site during the day. The user can select the **Delay** check box to indicate that the weather conditions may cause a delay in the project delivery.

* DFR ID:	DFR-000003	* ۵	Project:	PR00000109 -	The Beach Ho 🖇	0	Site Address:	30 Freder	ick Street		Temper	ature:	21.64
Status:	On Hold	*	Project Manager:	EP0000005 -	Palmer Michae 🖇	0	City:	Gold Coa	st		Humidit	ty(%):	64.00
	🗹 Hold		Created By:	construction - c	construction		Country:	AU - AUS	TRALIA	,c			
DFR Date:	12/10/2020 -						State:			, P			
							Postal Code:	4217	View	on Map			
							Latitude:						
							Longitude:				Time Ol	oserved:	8:52 AM
or Time And Ac	tivities Change Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Logs N	otes Eq	ipment Weath	er Visitors	Employee E	xpenses	Approvals Hist	tory	
+ ×	Load weather condition	ns ↔ 🕅											
	Cloudiness Sky	Temperat Temp	erature Humi	dity Rain/Sno	Precipitation	W	nd Wind	Site C	onditions	Delay	Description	Last Modified By	Last Modific
🛛 🗋 Time													

Figure: Weather tab

Note: Weather conditions can also be automatically loaded for daily field reports that haven't been completed yet—see "Integration with Weather Services" on page 65.

Tracking Visitors

On the **Visitors** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can specify information about visitors to the project site. The user can select the type of the visitor, specify the name of the visiting person, the name of their company (if applicable), and the time when the visitor arrived and departed, type the purpose of the visit, specify the visited area or inspected entity, and enter an additional description.

The user can add as many visitor records as needed.

Daily Field Report														🗋 Notes	Files Tools
← Save & Clos	ie 🖺 🖍 🕂	Û () -	IK K	> >	Print/Em	ail Act	ions 👻								
* DFR ID:	DFR-000003	* م	Project:	PR00000109	- The Bea	ich Ho 🔎	Site Ad	dress:	30 Fred	lerick St	reet	Te	mperature:	21.6	54
Status:	On Hold	*	Project Manager:	EP0000005	Palmer I	Michae 🔎	City:		Gold C	oast		Н	umidity(%):	64.0	0
	✓ Hold		Created By:	construction -	construct	ion	Country	e i	AU - AU	JSTRAL	IA A	0			
* DFR Date:	12/10/2020 -						State:				2	þ			
							Postal C	ode:	4217		View on Map				
							Latitude	2:							
							Longitu	de:				Ti	me Observed	8:52 AM	
Labor Time And Acti	ivities Change Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo L	.ogs Not	es Equipment	Weather	r Visito	rs Emp	oloyee Expenses	Approvals	History		
ٽ + ×	↔ X														
🖼 🕕 🗅 🔹 Visitor Ty	pe *Name	Business Account	Company		*Arrive	*Depa	* Purpose of Vis	it	Α	rea Visit	ed/Inspected Entit	y Descr	ption	Last Modified By	Last Modification Date
🖉 🖟 🗋 Customer	r Jane Doe	ABCVENT	ABC Capital Ver	itures	10:00 AN	11:30 AM	Inspection								

Figure: Visitors tab

Tracking Employee Expenses

On the **Employee Expenses** tab, which is shown in the screenshot below, the user can report information about day-to-day expenses he or she incurs while working on the project. To link an existing expense receipt to a daily field report, the user should click **Add Row** on the table toolbar and then select an expense receipt from a list.

Also, the user can click **Create New Expense Receipt** on the table toolbar. As a result, the Expense Receipt screen (EP301020) opens, with the project copied from the daily field report and non-editable. After the user saves the expense receipt, it is automatically associated with the daily field report and listed in the table on the **Employee Expenses** tab.

The user can associate as many expense receipts with a daily field report as needed.

The **Employee Expenses** tab is available only if the *Expense Management* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

DFR ID:	DFR-000003		* م	Project:	PR00000109 -	The Beach Ho	2	Site Addr	ess: 30 F	rederick S	treet	Temperature:	21.64	
Status:	On Hold		*	Project Manager:	EP0000005 -	Palmer Micha	e ,0	City:	Gold	Coast		Humidity(%):	64.00	
	🗹 Hold			Created By:	construction - o	construction		Country:	AU	AUSTRA	LIA , P			
DFR Date:	12/10/2020 -							State:			Q			
								Postal Co	de: 421	7	View on Map			
								Latitude:						
								Longitude	2			Time Observed:	8:52 AM	
or Time And A	ctivities Change R	equests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Logs	Notes	Equipment	Weather Vi	sitors Em	ployee Expenses	Approvals History		
+ ×	Create New Ex	pense Rec	:eipt ↔	X										
ference	Project Task	Cost Code	Status	Descriptio	n		Ref. N	pr.	Clain Amoun	Currency	Claimed By	Expense Claim Ref. Nbr.	Last Modified By	Last Modi ²

Figure: Employee Expenses tab

Keeping a History Log

If the **Enable History Log** check box is selected on the Project Management Preferences screen (PJ101000), all new revisions of a daily field report are saved as PDF files and listed on the **History** tab that becomes available on the Daily Field Report screen (PJ304000) (shown in the following screenshot). A history log record is created when the status of the daily field report changes to *Completed*. The list of revisions is generated automatically and cannot be edited by the user.

* DFR ID:	DFR-000001	,c	Project:	PR00000109 -	The Beach H	otel	Site Add	iress:	30 Freder	ick Street	Те	mperature:	21.14
Status:	Completed		Project Manager:	EP0000005 -	Palmer Micha	iel, N	City:		Gold Coas	st	н	umidity(%):	45.00
	Hold		Created By:	james - James	Brading		Country		AU - AUS	TRALIA	Q		
* DFR Date:	10/08/2020						State:				0		
							Postal C	ode:	4217	View on Map	o l		
							Latitude						
							Longitu	de:			Ti	me Observed:	10:38 AM
Labor Time And A	ctivities Change Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Logs	Notes	Equipment	Weather	Visitors	Employee Expenses	Approvals	History	
Č ⊷ X]												
File Name		Commen	t		Comple	ted Date		Completed	d By				

Figure 19: History tab

Updating Daily Field Reports

A daily field report may be updated multiple times during the day, sometimes by different employees. A user can update a daily field report only if it has the *On Hold* status—that is, if the **Hold** check box is selected for the daily field report on the Daily Field Report screen (PJ304000). If the daily field report has a different status, the user should select the **Hold** check box to put the document on hold before he or she starts updating it.

Deleting Daily Field Reports

A user can delete an incorrect daily field report if all of the following apply:

- the report is on hold,
- it has no related employee activities and subcontractor activities,
- it has no linked change requests and project issues,
- it has no records about weather conditions and visitors.

Approving Daily Field Reports

If an approval workflow is configured in the system for daily field reports, a daily field report gets the *Pending Approval* status after the user takes the document off hold by clearing the **Hold** check box on the Daily Field Report screen (PJ304000).

The authorized approver can approve the daily field report by using the **Approve** menu command on the Actions menu on the screen toolbar of the Daily Field Report screen, or the approver can use the Approvals screen (EP503010) to approve daily field reports along with documents of other types.

If the approver rejects the daily field report (by using the corresponding action on the Daily Field Report or Approvals screen), the document gets the *Rejected* status. Then it may be put on hold and updated as needed so that the user can submit it for approval again.

On the **Approvals** tab of the Daily Field Report screen, information about approvals of the document is displayed. This tab is available only if the *Approval Workflow* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

Printing or Emailing Daily Field Reports

To generate a printed form of a daily field report, the user can do any of the following:

- On the Daily Field Report Form screen (PJ644000), select the daily field report in the **DFR ID** box on the **Report Parameters** tab and then click **Run Report** on the screen toolbar.
- On the Daily Field Report screen (PJ304000), open the daily field report and click **Print/Email** on the screen toolbar. The generated report can be printed or emailed. (See the screenshot below for an example.)

Also, the user can use the Daily Field Report by Project screen (PJ644050) to generate an aggregate report for a particular project on a specific date.

Working with Daily Field Reports Through the Mobile App

While visiting the project site, the user can use the MYOB Advanced mobile app to work with daily field reports. The Daily Field Report app screen allows the user to create, update, or delete daily field reports, view document details, and approve or reject the daily field reports that are pending the user's approval.

Generating and Processing Lien Waivers

A lien waiver is a compliance document which is involved in the payment process for a project. The party that receives a payment (for instance, a contractor, subcontractor, or material supplier) signs a lien waiver to waive their rights against the property in exchange for the payment.

MYOB Advanced Construction Edition supports the following basic types of lien waivers:

- Conditional waivers for partial (or progress) payment: Used when a progress payment on the project is expected. A signed lien waiver of this type becomes effective immediately after the payment has been received.
- Conditional waivers for final payment: Used when the entire contract value is to be paid at one time or when the payment in question is the final payment for a project. A signed lien waiver of this type also becomes effective only after the payment has been received.
- Unconditional waivers for partial (or progress payment): Used when a progress payment on the project is expected. A lien waiver of this type becomes effective after it has been signed, regardless of whether the payment has been actually received.
- Unconditional waivers for final payment: Used for a one-time payment or for the final payment for a project. A lien waiver of this type becomes unconditionally effective once it has been signed even if no payment has been actually received.

Users can manually create new lien waivers or edit existing ones on the All and Lien Waivers tabs of the Compliance Management screen (CL401000), which is shown in the following screenshot, and on the Compliance tab of the entry screens for the corresponding entities.

Compliance Management ☆				
ŏ ≕ ∽ + × ⊨ ĭ				
All Records Certificates Insurance R	Policies Notices Lien Waive	rs Other Documents		
B 0 Document Type Creation † Date	Document Category	Required Received from Vendor	Received Received Received Date from Joint Date (Vendor) Payee Pa (Vendor) (Vendor) (Vendor)	eceived Processed ate (Joint ayee endor))
* 🛛 🗅 Lien Waiver 12/10/2020				
	Select 🕐 +- Value Conditional Final Conditional Partial Unconditional Partial	د ـ 		

Figure: Lien Waivers tab of the Compliance (CL401000) screen

Also, automatic generation of lien waivers can be set up in the system. For details, see the section below.

Automatically Generating Lien Waivers

An administrator can activate and set up automatic generation of lien waivers by using the settings on the Lien Waiver tab of the Compliance Preferences screen (CL301000), which is shown in the screenshot below.

Compliance Preferer	ices 🟠					
Lien Waiver Settings	Lien Waiver Reporting Settings	Custom Attributes	Common Attributes			
Outstanding Lien Wa	ivers					
🗹 Warn of Outstar	nding Lien Waivers During AP Bil	l Entry				
Warn of Outstan	iding Lien Waivers When Selecti	ng AP Bill for Paymen	t			
Stop Payment o	f AP Bill When There Are Outstar	nding Lien Waivers				
Conditional Lien Wa	vers		Unconditional Lien V	aivers		
Automatically G	enerate Lien Waivers		Automatically G	enerate Lien W	aivers	
Generate Lien Wai	vers on: Paying AP Bill		Generate Lien Wai	ers on:	Paying AP Bill	
Through Date:	Posting Period	End Date	Through Date:		AP Check Date	
Final Lien Waiver A	mount: AP Bill Amount	t	Final Lien Waiver A	mount:	Amount Paid	

Figure: Lien Waiver tab of the Compliance Preferences (CL301000) screen

Automatic generation can be set up separately for conditional and unconditional lien waivers.

If the Automatically Generate Lien Waivers check box is selected in the Conditional Lien Waiver Creation Criteria or Unconditional Lien Waiver Creation Criteria section, a lien waiver of the corresponding type will be generated when the status of the accounts payable check (or checks) changes from *On Hold* to *Pending Printing* or *Balanced*, or if the documents are created with the *Pending Printing* or *Balanced* status, which is the case when the **Hold Documents on Entry** check box is cleared on the General Settings tab of the Accounts Payable Preferences screen (AP101000).

The administrator specifies how the through date should be determined for automatically generated lien waivers. The party that signs a lien waiver agrees to waive their rights for the work completed since the previous lien waiver (if any) on (or before) the date defined by the **Through Date** setting. In the **Through Date** box, the administrator can select one of the following options:

- AP Bill Date: The date of the accounts payable bill
- **Posting Period End Date**: The last day of the posting period of the accounts payable bill (which is the default value for conditional lien waivers)
- **AP Check Date**: The date of the payment application (which is the default value for unconditional lien waivers) The system generates a final lean waiver if the following criteria are met:
 - Other lien waivers related to the same combination of project, supplier, and commitment exist in the system, and the lien notice amount is specified.
 - The lien notice amount equals the sum of all lien waiver amounts related to the combination of project, supplier, and commitment (excluding newly created lien waivers) plus the AP bill amount (if a conditional lien waiver is being generated) or the amount paid (if an unconditional lien waiver is being generated).

The amount of an automatically generated final conditional lien waiver will equal the amount of the accounts payable bill. For a final unconditional lien waiver, the document amount will equal the amount paid on the accounts payable bill.

If the **Automatically Generate Lien Waivers** check box on the Lien Waiver tab of the Compliance Preferences screen is selected for at least one type of lien waivers (that is, for conditional or unconditional lean waivers), the **Through Date** setting from the corresponding section is copied to the Lien Waiver Settings tab that is available on the Project Templates (PM208000) and Projects (PM301000) screens (shown in the screenshot below); the default values can be modified by the user.



Figure: Lien Waiver Settings tab on the Project Templates screen (PM208000)

Lien waivers will be automatically created for suppliers that belong to the supplier classes listed in the table on the **Compliance Settings** tab of the Projects screen. For each supplier class, a minimum commitment amount should be specified so that lien waivers are automatically generated for commitments whose amount is larger than or equal to the specified minimum amount.

The compliance settings on the Project Templates screen are copied to projects associated with the project template. If a new project is not associated with a project template that has compliance settings specified, the default values for the compliance settings are transferred to the project from the **Lien Waiver** tab of the Compliance Preferences screen. The user can modify default values of compliance settings for a specific project template or project, if needed.

On the General Settings tab of the Supplier Classes screen (AP201000), a **Generate Lien Waivers Automatically** check box is available (shown in the following screenshot). If this check box is selected, lien waivers will be automatically generated for a supplier of the class by default, but only if no other option is specified for the particular supplier on the Suppliers screen (AP303000).

v + 0 -	ÎÎ I	< < >	>I Apply Restriction	Settings to all Suppliers Add to Project	
SUBCON	Q				
Subcontractors					
nts Attributes Mailing Se	ttings				
		Default Financia	Il Settings		
AU - AUSTRALIA	20	7 Terms:	NET30DAYS	Net 30 Days 🔎 🧷	
DOMESTIC	P 0	Payment Met	CASH - Cash	Payment 🔎 🧷	
🗹 Require Tax Zone		Cash Account		0	
Tax Settings	-	Payment By:	Due Date	-	
Default Location ID from	Branch	Currency ID:	AUD 🔎	Enable Currency Override	
c	Q	Curr. Rate Typ	e: SPOT ,0	Enable Rate Override	
			Pay by Line		
	Q		🗹 Apply Retair	age	
Accept but Warn	*	Default Print an	d Email Settings		
			🗹 Print Orders		
			Send Order:	by Email	
		🗌 Send Remi	tances by Email	Print Remittances	
		Default Lien Wa	iver Settings		
		🗌 Generate L	ien Waivers Automatically		
	SUBCON Subcontractors Subcontractors AU - AUSTRALIA DOMESTIC Require Tax Zone Tax Settings Default Location ID from X Accept but Warn	SUBCON P Subcontractors Subcontractors Inits Attributes Mailing Settings AU - AUSTRALIA DOMESTIC Tax Settings Default Location ID from Branch P Accept but Warn	SUBCON P SUBCON P Subcontractors Default Financia AU - AUSTRALIA P DOMESTIC P Tax Settings Payment Meth Cash Account Payment Meth Cash Account Payment Meth Currency ID: Currency ID: X P Accept but Warn P Default Print an	Image: Subcontractors Image: Subcontractors Subcontractors Image: Subcontractors Ints Attributes Mailing Settings Default Financial Settings AU - AUSTRALIA Image: Subcontractors DOMESTIC Image: Subcontractors Image: Subcontractors Image: Subcontractors Domestic Image: Subcontractors Default Financial Settings Image: Subcontractors Image: Subcontractors Image: Subcontractors Default Location ID from Branch Currency ID: Image: Subcontractors Image: Subcontractors Ima	Add to Project SUBCON Subcontractors Subcontractors Aut-AUSTRALIA Payment Method: CASH - Cash Payment Payment Method: CASH - Cash Payment Payment Method: CASH - Cash Payment Payment By: Due Date Payment By: Currency ID: AUD Currency ID: AUD Payby Itine Pay by Line Send Orders by Email Send Orders by Email Charlt Lien Waiver Settings Default Lien Waiver Settings

Figure: Supplier Classes (AP201000) screen

The **Add to Project** button opens a window where the user can select projects for which lien waivers are to be generated automatically, and specify the minimum commitment amount for the supplier class.

Add \	/en	dor Class to Proje	ct							×
Õ		↔ X								
8] P	Project ID	Status	Customer	Description	Customer Name	Project Currency		* Minii Commiti Arr	mum ment nount
>] [PR00000001	Completed	CUST000005	AMRO Bldg 2 Server Room Build Cost Plus	AMRO Bank N.V.	AUD			
]	PR0000002	Completed	CUST000097	ERP Implementation Fixed Price - Software I	Quay Technology	AUD			
		PR0000003	Completed	CUST000004	Time and Material On-Demand Support	Alphabetland School Center	AUD			
		PR00000004	Completed	CUST000011	New Server Room Internal Project - Server B	AC Equipment	AUD			
		PR0000005	Completed	CUST000011	Time and Material On-Demand Support	AC Equipment	AUD			
		PR00000012	Completed	CUST000057	AMRO Bldg 2 Server Room Build Cost Plus	NETCAFE NY	AUD			
		PR00000015	Completed	CUST000077	AMRO Bldg 2 Server Room Build Cost Plus	Streamray Incorporated	AUD			
								< <	>	>
								A	dd	Cancel

Figure: Add Supplier Class to Project dialog box

On the General Info tab of the Suppliers screen (AP303000), the **Generate Lien Waivers Based on Project Settings** check box is available (see the screenshot below). If the check box is cleared, no lien waivers will be generated for the supplier.

Suppliers												
← Save	& Close	H	v + 0	- Îİ	K	< >	>I Ac	tions 👻	Inqu	iries 👻 Reports	Ŧ	
* Supplier ID:		BRID	OGE	Q	* Sta	tus: Act	ive -	В	alanc	e:	53,018	3.70
* Supplier Nai	me:	Bridg	getown Building Mat	erials				P	repay	ment Balance:	(0.00
General Info	Payment S	ettings	Purchase Settings	Locations	Contac	ts Attributes	Activities	GL Acco	unts	Mailing Settings	Compliance	
Main Contac	:t					Financia	I Settings					
Company I	Name:	Bri	dgetown Building M	aterials		* Suppl	er Class:	V	/END	DFT - Vendor Det	fault	0
Attention:						Terms		C	CASH	ONLY - Cash Onl	у	20
Email:						Curre	ncy ID:	A	UD	₽ Er	able Currency	Override
Web:					Z	Curr. I	Rate Type:	S	POT	₽ Er	able Rate Ove	rride
Phone 1:						Supplie	Properties					
Phone 2:									Land	led Cost Supplier		
Fax:									Supp	olier is Tax Agency		
Account Re	ef.#:								Staff	Member in Servic	e Managemen	t
Parent Acc	ount:				Q,	Persona	l Data Privad	y				
Main Addres	s					🗹 Co	nsented to th	he Process	ing o	f Personal Data		
Address Li	ne 1:					* Date (of Consent:	1	2/10/	2020 -		
Address Li	ne 2:					Conse	nt Expires:			-		
City:						Retaina	ge Settings					
* Country:		AU	- AUSTRALIA		Q			~	Appl	y Retainage		
State:					Q	Retain	age Dercent		-	5 000000		
Postal Cod	e:		View	on Map		Lien Wa	iver Settings	;				
County:						□ Ge	nerate Lien V	Vaivers ba:	sed o	n Project settings		

Figure: Suppliers (AP303000) screen

If the primary supplier and the joint supplier are paid with one Accounts Payable cheque, one lien waiver is generated for each combination of supplier and joint payee. After the lien waiver is processed, one printed form of the document is attached to the primary supplier and one to the joint payee.

When automatic generation is activated for a particular type of lien waivers, users also can manually create and edit lien waivers (including those generated automatically) of that type.

Exceptions to Lien Waiver Automatic Generation

The system will not generate lien waivers in the following cases:

- The **Automatically Generate Lien Waivers** check box on the **Lien Waiver** tab of the Compliance Preferences screen is cleared for the particular type of document.
- The **Pay per Line** check box in the **Default Payment Info** section on the **Financial Details** tab of the Bills and Adjustments (AP301000) screen is cleared for the accounts payable bill that is paid by an accounts payable check while the accounts payable bill refers to multiple combinations of project and commitment.
- The supplier or joint payee does not belong to a supplier class listed in the table on the **Compliance Settings** tab of the Projects screen.
- The Generate Lien Waivers Based on Project Settings check box on the General Info tab of the Suppliers screen is cleared for the supplier or joint payee.
- The supplier or joint payee has any number of linked outstanding lien waivers (which is checked for the combination of project and supplier or joint payee) and the **Stop Payment of AP Bill when There Are Outstanding Lien Waivers** check box on the **Lien Waiver** tab of the Compliance Preferences screen is selected. (For details about outstanding lien waivers, see "Outstanding Lien Waivers" below.)

- The minimum commitment amount specified on the Projects screen for the supplier class to which the supplier or joint payee belongs is larger than total amount of the related subcontract or purchase order.
- There are no commitments related to the Accounts Payable cheque.

Outstanding Lien Waivers

An outstanding lien waiver is a lien waiver that has not been marked as received and whose **Through Date** is earlier than the current business date in the system.

The system searches for outstanding lien waivers through all compliance documents related to the particular combination of the project and primary and joint suppliers. If any outstanding lien waivers are found, the system may display a warning when the user attempts to enter an accounts payable bill on the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000) or to select an accounts payable bill for a payment on the Cheques and Payments screen (AP302000).

Also, warnings may appear on the Prepare Payments screen (AP503000). A warning may appear only if the **Warn of Outstanding Lien Waivers During AP Bill Entry** or **Warn of Outstanding Lien Waivers when Selecting AP Bill for Payment** check box (or both check boxes) is selected in the General Settings section on the Lien Waiver tab of the Compliance Preferences screen (CL301000).

Also, if the **Stop Payment of AP Bill when There Are Outstanding Lien Waivers** check box in the same section is selected, the system will show an error message and stop the payment in the following circumstances:

- On the Bills and Adjustments screen, when a user clicks Actions > Pay Bill/Apply Adjustment on the screen toolbar for an accounts payable bill that has a linked outstanding lien waiver.
- On the Checks and Payments screen, when a user attempts to take off hold or release a check that has a linked outstanding lien waiver.
- On the Prepare Payments (AP503000), Process Payments / Print Checks (AP505000), or Release Payments (AP505200) screen, when the user initiates the processing of the document.

Note: If the primary supplier has an outstanding lien waiver, the payment will be stopped for the joint payee too.

All these check boxes are cleared by default (see the screenshot below).

Compliance Preferer	nces 🕁									
Lien Waiver Settings	Lien Waiver Re	porting Settings	Custom Attributes	Common Attributes						
Outstanding Lien Wa	Outstanding Lien Waivers									
🗹 Warn of Outstar	☑ Warn of Outstanding Lien Waivers During AP Bill Entry									
🗌 Warn of Outstar	nding Lien Waive	ers When Selectin	ng AP Bill for Paymen	t						
🗌 Stop Payment o	f AP Bill When T	here Are Outstar	nding Lien Waivers							
Conditional Lien Wa	ivers			Unconditional Lien \	Naivers					
Automatically G	enerate Lien Wa	ivers		Automatically G	ienerate Lien Wa	aivers				
Generate Lien Wai	vers on:	Paying AP Bill		Generate Lien Wai	vers on:	Paying AP Bill				
Through Date:		Posting Period	End Date	Through Date:		AP Check Date				
Final Lien Waiver A	mount:	AP Bill Amount		Final Lien Waiver A	amount:	Amount Paid				

Figure: General Settings section on the Lien Waiver tab of the Compliance Preferences screen (CL301000)

Processing Lien Waivers

The Print/Email Lien Waivers screen (CL502000) is a standard processing screen (shown in the screenshot below) on which users can initiate the processing of previously unprocessed lien waivers.

Print/Email Lien W	aivers 🏠											
Process	Process A	∥ ⊗ -										
Action:	Print Lier	n Waivers	•	Start Da	ate: 12/10/2020	Ŧ	✓ Print with Device	≘Hub				
Project:	Email Lien Waivers			End Dat	te: 12/10/2020	-	🗌 Define Printer M	Define Printer Manually				
Supplier:	Print Lien Waivers			Show Processed Printer:								
Category:	·						Number of Copies:	1				
Č ↔ 🛛												
B D D Cre D	Image: Creation Document Status Date Category Category			Re	Received from Vendor	Rec	eived from Joint Payee (Vendor)	Processed	Voided	Created Automatically		

Figure: Print/Email Lien Waivers (CL502000) screen

The system can process lien waivers of particular types only for the suppliers that have corresponding mailing IDs specified on the **Mailing Settings** tab of the Suppliers screen (AP303000), as shown in the following screenshot.

Suppliers								
← Save & Close 🗄	າ v + ເ) - Ū	K <	> > Ac	tions 👻 Inqu	uiries 👻 Reports	*	
* Supplier ID:	BRIDGE	Q	* Status:	Active -	Balan	ce:	53,018.70	
Supplier Name:	Bridgetown Building M	laterials			Prepa	yment Balance:	0.00	
General Info Payment Sett	ings Purchase Settin	gs Locations	Contacts Attri	butes Activities	GL Accounts	Mailing Settings	Compliance	
Aailings								
Č + × ⊶	X							
Mailing ID † E	Branch Email A	Account Report		Notification Temp	late Fo	ormat Activ	ve Overridden	
Conditional Final		CL.64.2	20.03		P	DF S		
Conditional Partial		CL.64.2	20.01		P	DF 🗄		
PURCHASE ORDER		PO.64.	10.00		P	DF E		
RQPROPOSAL		RQ.61.	10.00		P	DF E		
Unconditional Final		CL.64.2	20.04		P	DF E		
Unconditional Partial		CL.64.2	20.02		P	DF 🗄		

Figure: Mailing Settings tab of the Suppliers (AP303000) screen

On the Print/Email Lien Waivers screen, by selecting a corresponding option in the **Action** box and then clicking **Process** or **Process All** on the screen toolbar, the user can print or email selected or all listed lien waivers. A print form will be generated for the primary supplier and for a joint payee if one is specified for the lien waiver.

If the user puts an accounts payable cheque back on hold, the related automatically generated lien waivers (if any) are deleted from the system. When the user voids an accounts payable check, the system offers the user to void the related automatically created lien waivers (if any).

Photo Logs

In the construction industry, field superintendents and other employees may use mobile devices to take progress photos, and then they may need to store and share those photos by using a secure online service. In MYOB Advanced Construction Edition, users can create photo logs that may be associated with particular projects and project tasks.

Setting Up Photo Logs

Before users can starting using photo logs, numbering sequences should be specified for photo logs and photos and the changes should be saved on the Photo Log Preferences screen (PJ103000), as shown in the screenshot below.

Photo Log Preferences 🛛 🛣

General Settings Status Attributes		
* Photo Log Numbering Sequence: PHOTOLOG - Photo Logs	Q	/
* Photo Numbering Sequence: PHOTO - Photo	ر م	0

Figure : Photo Log Preferences screen (PJ103000)

On the Status tab (shown in the following screenshot), the user can define custom statuses for photo log documents. The *N/A* status is a predefined status specified by default for a new photo log. This status cannot be deleted, but the user can change its name and description if needed.

Photo Log Preferences 🛛 🛱	
General Settings Status Attributes	
Č + × ⊢ ⊠	
🖹 *Status	Description
> N/A	DEFAULT

Figure: Status tab

On the Attributes tab, the user can specify a list of attributes that will be available for individual photos in a photo log.

Creating a Photo Log

A user can create a photo log by using the Photo Log screen (PJ305000), shown in the following screenshot. This screen opens when the user clicks **Add New Record** on the screen toolbar of the Photo Logs screen (PJ405000).

Photo Log	ose 🖹 က 🕂 🗓 I	< < >	>I Actions +			
Photo Log ID: * Date: Project: Project Task: Description:	PL-000003 P 12/10/2020 P PR00000109 - The Beach Hotel P Construction in progress P	* Status:	N/A	٩	Created By:	construction - construction
Photos Activities C + × Photo ID	↔ 🕅 Name	Description	All Recon Uploaded On	ds Uploaded By	✓ Main Photo	
> D PH-000003	construction-site-3432379_420	ı.png	12/10/2020	construction		

Figure: Photo Log (PJ305000) screen

On the Photo Log screen (PJ305000), the user needs to specify the project on which the photo log is being created, a date, and a status. Also, the user can specify a project task and a brief description for the photo log.

On the **Photos** tab, the user needs to click **Add Row** on the table toolbar to open the Photo screen (PJ305010), shown in the screenshot below, through which photos are uploaded and added to a photo log. If the user clicks **Upload Photo** next to the **Photo Log ID** box, selects a photo in the **Upload New Photo** dialog box, clicks **Upload**, and then saves the changes, the photo is added to the photo log.

The user can add as many photos to a photo log as needed.

Figure: Photo screen (PJ305010)

If the **Main Photo** check box is selected for a photo, the photo is displayed in the preview area on the Photo Logs screen (PJ405000) as the main photo of the entire photo log, as shown in the screenshot below. Only one photo can be marked as the main photo for a photo log. If no photo is marked as the main photo, the preview area remains empty.

Ph	otc	Log	js 1	¢۲								
	ŀ	0	,	Actions *								
	Pr	ojec				D Da	ite From:					
	Pr	ojec	Task	c		Da	ite To:	12/10/2020 -				
d	5	+	+	X					All Records	*	Y	Main Photo Preview
(20)	0			Photo Log ID	* Status	* Date	*Project	Project Task	Description	Created	i By	
	0			PL-000003	N/A	12/10/2020	PR00000109		Construction in progress	constr	uction	
	0			PL-000002	N/A	12/10/2020	PR00000109	•		constr	uction	
	0			PL-000001	N/A	19/08/2020	PR00000106	5		james.	field	

Figure 12: Preview area on the Photo Logs screen (PJ405000)

Working with Photo Logs

The Activities tab on the Photo Log screen (PJ305000) contains a table that displays a list of activities (if any), such as emails, events, tasks, or notes associated with the photo log. A user can add new activities by using the action buttons on the table toolbar.

Photo Log										
← Save & Clos	se 🗄 🖍	+ 🛍	K K	> >	Actions +					
Photo Log ID:	PL-000003	Q	* Status:	N/A		Q	Created By	: cons	ruction - const	ruction
* Date:	12/10/2020 -									
Project:	PR00000109 - The	e Beach Hotel								
Project Task:		Q								
Description:	Construction in pro	gress								
Photos Activities										
ک × Add	Task Add Event	Add Email	Add Activity	* ↔ <u>N</u>						
	1	Ŷ	Type *	Summary	Status	Start Date	Created At	Category	Owner	Created By

Figure: Activities tab on the Photo Log screen

When working with photo logs on the Photo Logs screen (PJ405000), the user can also do the following:

- Filter photo logs by project and by project task by using the **Project** and **Project Task** boxes in the Summary area
- Download photos from selected photo logs in a single zip archive by selecting the unlabelled check boxes next to the needed photo logs in the table and clicking Actions > Download Zip on the screen toolbar.
- Email photos from selected photo logs as an email attachment by selecting the unlabelled check boxes next to the needed photo logs in the table and clicking **Actions** > **Email** on the screen toolbar.

To move a photo from one photo log to another, the user can simply select the destination photo log in the **Photo Log ID** box for the photo on the Photo screen (PJ305010) and save the changes.

If the user deletes a photo log, all photos included in the photo log are also deleted.

The user can search for photos by using the standard search functionality. The system searches photos by photo ID, description, file name, and attribute.

Project Cost Codes

Cost codes represent an additional classification level for project revenues and project costs, as subaccounts do in the General Ledger module. The **Cost Code** element has been added to various screens in the system so that it can be specified for General Ledger transactions and all document lines across the system where projects can be referenced, such as the lines of project budgets, Accounts Payable bills, purchase orders, Accounts Receivable invoices, expense entries, timecards, and rate tables of projects.

The cost codes feature can be used only with the Construction Edition. To start using the feature, on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), a user enables the Cost Codes feature. The list of cost codes, which can be used system-wide, is configured on the Cost Codes screen (PM209500). You can manually create cost codes as well as upload a list of cost codes from an Excel file.

A cost code has the following UI elements:

- Cost Code: The code that is used for posting
- **Description**: The default description specified for the cost code, which can be overridden in a particular cost budget line of a project

When the *Project Accounting* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen, even if the *Cost Codes* feature is not enabled, the system creates the default 0000 cost code with the *DEFAULT* description. When the *Cost Codes* feature is enabled, on the Cost Codes screen (PM209500), a user can change this cost code and its description, but cannot delete the default cost code, because its system identifier is one of the components of the compound key in the PMBudget table in the database.

Cost codes have a segmented structure, which can be configured on the Segmented Keys screen (CS202000) for the COSTCODE segmented key. Initially, COSTCODE is a one-segment key that consists of four numeric symbols. The following screenshot displays the Cost Codes screen (PM209500) with the list of cost codes for which COSTCODE has been configured to have two segments, one with two numbers and one with three.

Note: Notice 1	that the Cost	Code of the DEFAULT	cost code has	been also change	Ь
				been also change	LU.

Cost Codes 🛱													
(Č		ŝ	+ × Change ID I↔I 🗵 ± 🍸									
-	0		*Cost Code	* Description									
>	0		00-000	DEFAULT									
	0		01-000	GENERAL REQUIREMENTS									
	0	\square	01-050	Construction Development Costs									
	0	\Box	01-075	HBA Assessments									
	0	\Box	01-100	Warranty Fees									
	0	\Box	01-300	Permits									
	0		01-305	Surveys									
	0	\Box	01-310	Project Management and Coordination									

Figure: List of two-segment cost codes

Note: It is not possible to decrease the complexity of a segmented key once it has been increased—bear this in mind when adding digits/segments to a key.

Project Budgets with Cost Codes

With the *Cost Codes* feature enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), on the **Summary** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000), in the **Revenue Budget Level** box, the revenue budget of a project can be defined at the *Task and Cost Code* detail level, as shown in the following screenshot.

Project	S																	
÷	Save & Close		\$	+	Ū	I<	<	>	×	Run Project	t Billing	Create	Chang	e Request	Create Change Or	der Actio	ons 👻	
* Proj	ject ID:			PR00000	109				9	* Status:		Active	Ŧ	Actual	Income:	13,411,97	1.10	
Cus	Customer:			EQUGRP - The Equity Group Investor 🔎 🧷						Hold				Actual	Expenses:	10,394,636.30		
Tem	Template:				OGRE	S - Cons	tructio	n Progre	ss 🧷					Margi	n:	3,017,334.80		
* Des	* Description: The Beach Hotel and Condomi					niniums												
Cur	rency Rate for E	Budget:		AUD	1.0	0	Ŧ	View bas	e									
Summ	ary Balances	Cost Bu	dget	Commitme	ents	Change	Orders	Reven	ue Budge	t Invoices	Appro	oval Details	Tasks	Employees	Change Requests	Union Loca	als Eq	
Proje	ct Properties …									Bill-to -								
Rev	enue Budget Le	vel:	Task an	nd Cost Coo	le			*						erride Contac	t			
Cos	t Budget Level:	Т	ask							Comp	Company Name:			The Equity Group Investors				
* Star	* Start Date: Task ar End Date: Task lt			and Cost Code						Attention:								
End										Phone 1:								
Proj	ject Manager:	T	EP000	000005 - Palmer Michael, Mr.						Email:	Email:			eqg@equity.con.au				

Figure: The revenue budget level of a project

Project budget lines are represented by cost codes instead of inventory items, as shown in the following screenshots.

Pro	rojects																
•	-	Sa	ve & Close	Ë 🗸	+ 🗊	I< <	> >	Run Projec	t Billing Cre	ate Chang	e Request	Create Change Or	der Actions	s 👻 Inquiries	* Reports	Ŧ	
	Pr	oject	ID:		PR00000109		٩	* Status:	Active	Ŧ	Actual Income:		13,411,971.1	13,411,971.10			
	CL	istom	ier:		EQUGRP - T	he Equity Group	Investor 🔎 🧷		🗌 Hold		Actua	al Expenses:	10,394,636.3	80			
s	umr	mary	Balances	Cost Budget	Commitments	Change Order	Revenue Budget	Invoices	Approval Det	ails Tasks	Employees	Change Requests	Union Locals	Equipment A	ctivity History	Settings	
	Project Task: Project Task: Pending Invoice Amount Total: 0.00																
Ċ	5	+	×	View Transact	tions ↔	1 X											
	0		* Project Task	Cost Code	*Account	t Group Des	ription			Ori Budg Qua	ginal UOM jeted intity	Unit Rat	e Ori <u>c</u> Budge Amo	ginal Potent eted Qu punt	ial CO Po antity	tential CO Amount	
	0		01	01-00	00 REVENU	IE GEI	VERAL REQUIREMEN	NTS			0.00 LS	0.0	0 4,154,366	5.00	0.00		
	0		02	02-20	00 REVENU	IE Site	- Prep				0.00 LS	0 LS 0.00		5.00	0.00	0.00	
	0		03	03-00	00 REVENU	E CO	NCRETE				0.00 LS	0.0	8,319,840	0.00	0.00	0.00	
	0		04	04-00	00 REVENU	IE MA	SONRY				0.00 LS	0.0	0 1,210,648	3.00	0.00	0.00	
	0		05	05-00	00 REVENU	IE ME	TALS				0.00 LS	0.0	0 1,901,356	5.00	0.00	0.00	

Figure: The revenue budget of a project defined at the task and cost code level

Pro	jec	ts														
~	•	Sa	ave & Close	8 9	+ 🖻	I< <	> >	Run Projec	t Billing Crea	e Chang	e Request	Create C	hange Ord	ler Action	s + Inqui	ies - Reports -
*	Pro Cu	oject Iston	t ID: ner:		PR00000109 EQUGRP - Th	e Equity Group II	,> nvestor ,> _/	* Status:	Active Hold	*	Actua Actua	l Income: I Expenses	:	13,411,971. 10,394,636.	10 30	
Su	mn	mary	Balances	Cost Budget	Commitments	Change Orders	Revenue Budget	Invoices	Approval Detai	s Tasks	Employees	Change	Requests	Union Locals	Equipmen	Activity History
	Project Task															
Ċ)	+	- ×	View Commit	tment Details	View Transaction	is ↔ X	1								
£ (0		*Project Task	Cost Code	*Account Group	Description			Origina Budgeter Quantit	UOM	l	Jnit Rate	Or Budg An	iginal Pot geted nount	ential CO Quantity	Potential CO Amount
> (0		01	00-000	EQUIPMENT	DEFAULT			0.00			0.00		0.00	0.00	0.00
(0	\Box	01	01-300	OTHEREXP	Permits			1.00	LS	15	5,000.00	15,00	00.00	0.00	0.00
(0		01	01-311	LABOUR	Operations	- Project Manage	r	240.00	HOUR		50.00 12,0		00.00	0.00	0.00
(0		01	01-313	LABOUR	Operations	- Superintendent		300.00	HOUR		48.00	14,40	00.00	0.00	0.00
(0		01	01-505	OTHEREXP	Mobilizatio	n		2.00	EA	7	7,500.00	15,00	00.00	0.00	0.00

Figure: The cost budget of a project defined at the task and cost code level

The cost codes presented in project budgets are project-specific. The **Cost Codes** selector on MYOB Advanced screens has the corresponding Project Codes filter tab. When a user selects a cost code for a document line with the selected project, project task, and account, on the Project Codes filter tab of the lookup table, the system shows the cost codes that are used in budget lines of the same project, for the same project task, and for the same account group that corresponds to the account (see the following screenshot). The cost code description that is displayed in the Project Codes filter tab of the selector is retrieved from the corresponding project budget line. The All Records filter tab of the selector lists all the existing cost codes.

*Branch	Project Task	Cost Code	De	scription	Re Bud An	evised Previously geted Invoiced mount
RBYTEMAIN	01	00000	Q	NERAL REQUIREMENTS	46,28	81.30 34,710.98
						⊐ ×
		Select	Č			Q
		All F	ecor	Project Codes		
		E Cost Code	Ť	Description	Used Proje	in ect
		> 00-00	0	GENERAL REQUIREMENTS	V	2
		03-00	0	CONCRETE	V	2
		04-00	0	MASONRY	V	2
				۱< <	>	>

Figure: The Project Codes filter tab of the Cost Codes selector

Project Billing by Task and Cost Code

With the *Cost Codes* feature enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), a project can be billed by task and cost code. Progress billing by task and cost code is available for projects with the *Task and Cost Code* revenue budget level (see the following screenshot). Time and material billing by task and cost code is available for a project with any revenue budget level. Both types of billing work similarly to billing by task and inventory item.

← Save & Cl	ose 🖺	S	Û	I< <	: >)	Release		Actions 👻	Repo	rts 👻			
Reference Nbr.:	000049	049 🔎		ect:	PR00	PR00000107 - Eastgate Strip Mall Projec					Progress Billing	g Total:	88,263.97	
Status:	On Hold		Customer:		KRKC	KRKCONSULT - KRK Consulting Service				0	Time and Mate	erial Total:	0.00	
	✓ Hold		* Location:		RBYTEMAIN - Primary Location						Tax Total:		0.00	
Invoice Date:	29/05/2020	Ŧ	Curr	ency:	AUD	0	1.00	Ŧ	View base		Invoice Total:		88,263.97	
Post Period:	11-2020 🔎									Retainage Total: Amount Due:		4,413.20 83,850.77		
Description:	Invoice for	Invoice for Eastgate Strip Mall Project												
rogress Billing	Time and Ma	terial	Tax Details	Financi	al Details	Арр	oroval Details	Ad	ldress Details					
ン + ×	(↔	X												
0 🗅 *Branch		Project Task	Co Co	st de	Description	n			Revi Budge Amo	sed ted unt	Previously Invoiced	Total Completed (%)	Amou	

Figure: The Pro Forma Invoices (PM307000) screen with the Cost Codes feature enabled

For information about project billing, see the "Project Billing" topic in the MYOB Advanced User Guide.

Screens That Support Cost Codes

A user can create purchase orders, Account Payable bills, and other entities for which cost codes are specified and can use cost codes in reports and pivot tables. The following list of screens and documents includes the **Cost Code** element:

- Project Transactions screen (PM304000)
- Change Orders screen (PM308000): The Revenue Budget (when the **Revenue Budget Level** is Task and Cost Code), Cost Budget, and Commitments tabs
- Pro Forma Invoices screen (PM307000): The Progress Billing and Time and Material tabs
- Projects screen (PM301000): The Revenue Budget (when the **Revenue Budget Level** is Task and Cost Code) and Cost Budget tabs
- Cost Codes screen (PM209500)
- Project Budget screen (PM309000)
- Project Transactions inquiry screen (PM401000)
- Commitments inquiry screen (PM306000)
- Pro Forma Invoice report (PM642000)
- Change Order report (PM643000)
- Project Balance report (PM621000)
- Project Templates screen (PM208000): The Revenue Budget (when the Revenue BudgetLevel is Task and Cost Code) and Cost Budget tabs
- Task screen (CR306020)
- Activity screen (CR306010)
- Event screen (CR306030)

- Email Activity screen (CR306015): The Details tab
- Employee Time Activities screen (EP307000)
- Employee Time Card screen (EP305000): The Summary and Details tabs
- Equipment Time Card screen (EP308000): The Summary and Details tabs
- Expense Receipt screen (EP301020)
- Expense Claim screen (EP301000): The Expense Claim Details tab
- Journal Transactions screen (GL301000)
- Journal Vouchers screen (GL304000)
- Transactions screen (CA304000)
- Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000)
- Quick Checks screen (AP304000)
- Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000)
- Cash Sales screen (AR304000)
- AR Invoice report (AR641000)
- Sales Orders screen (SO301000)
- Invoices screen (SO303000)
- Purchase Orders screen (PO301000)
- Purchase Receipts screen (PO302000)
- Purchase Order report (PO641000)
- Receipts inquiry screen (IN301000)
- Issues inquiry screen (IN302000)

Screens That Temporarily Do Not Support Cost Codes

The support of cost codes is planned for the future for the following screens:

- Rate Tables screen (PM204200)
- Rate Lookup Rules screen (PM205000)
- Row Sets screen (CS206010)
- Column Sets screen (CS206020)
- Unit Sets screen (CS206030)
- Purchase Order report (PO641000)
- AR Invoice report (AR641000)

Note: As a workaround for the Purchase Order (PO641000) and AR Invoice (AR641000) reports, a user can add the **Cost Code** column to these reports by creating a custom version of the report.

Project Cost Projections

In MYOB Advanced Construction Edition, users can forecast final costs and remaining costs for a project at a particular stage by using cost projections. The calculated costs may be compared with the initial estimates of the cost budget, which will help users detect potential problems early in the project, track if the project is going over budget, and reduce costs.

Users can create as many revisions of a cost projection as needed.

Cost Projection Classes

In MYOB Advanced Construction Edition, a cost projection has a certain budget detail level, which is defined by a cost projection class.

A cost projection class can be created and modified on the Cost Projection Classes screen (PM203500), which is shown in the screenshot below. By selecting or clearing the check boxes in the **Cost Task**, **Account Group**, **Cost Code**, and **Inventory ID** columns for a particular class, the user sets up the budget detail level for cost projections that belong to that class.

Co	Cost Projection Classes 🛱													
	$t \boxtimes (\gamma + \chi) \mapsto \boxtimes t$													
8	Û		*Class ID	* Description	Active	Cost Task	Account Group	Cost Code	Inventory ID					
>	0		СТ	Cost Task projection level	\checkmark	\checkmark								
	0		CTAG	Cost Task + Account Group budget level	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark							
	0		CTAGCC	Cost Task + Account Group + Cost Code bud	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark						

Figure: Cost Projection Classes screen

A cost projection can have the same budget detail level as that of the project, or it can be less detailed. For instance, if the project has the *Task and Cost Code* cost budget level, related cost projections can have the *Cost Task, Cost Code*, or *Cost Task + Cost Code* budget level, but they cannot have a greater level of detail than that of the project, such as *Cost Task + Cost Code + Inventory ID*.

Only a class with the **Active** check box selected can be selected on the cost projection entry screen.
Cost Projection Entry

Users can enter, modify, and process cost projections by using the Cost Projection screen (PM305000), which is shown in the following screenshot.

Cos	t Pro	ojection 🕁												
C	1	∽ + ü	< <	> >	Actions - Copy Re	vision								
	Proje	ect:	PR0000010	9 - The Beac	h Hotel and C 🔎 🧷 * Cla	iss:	CTAGCC -	Cost Task + Acco	P / Budg	eted		0 221 606 41	Projected	
	Statu	us:	On Hold	🗹 Ho	ld Re	vision Date:	12/10/2020		Tota	Il Cost to Complete Il Cost at Completie	en:	28,670,304.71	47,305,109.5	1
_	Desc	ription:												
De	tails	Approval Details												
)	+ X Sele	ct Budget Lines Cost Task	Cost	Description	Transactions	History ↔ Budgeted	Budgeted	Actual +	Actual +	Quantity To	Cost To	Projected	Projected
				Code			Quantity	Cost	Committed Open Quantity	Committed Open Cost	Complete	Complete	Quantity to Complete	Čost to Complete
>		EQUIPMENT	01	00-000	DEFAULT		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
		OTHEREXP	01	01-300	Permits	LS	1.00	15,000.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	15,000.00	1.00	15,000.00
) [ABOUR	01	01-311	Operations- Project Ma	HOUR	240.00	12,000.00	0.00	0.00	240.00	12,000.00	240.00	12,000.00
		ABOUR	01	01-313	Operations- Superinten	HOUR	300.00	14,400.00	0.00	0.00	300.00	14,400.00	300.00	14,400.00
) [OTHEREXP	01	01-505	Mobilization	EA	2.00	15,000.00	0.00	0.00	2.00	15,000.00	2.00	15,000.00

Figure: Cost Projection screen

When creating a new cost projection, the user should specify the necessary project, a cost projection class, and a revision ID in the Summary area of the screen. In the **Revision Date** box, the current business date is specified by default.

On the Details tab, the user should click **Select Budget Lines** on the table toolbar and then in the **Select Budget Lines** dialog box, which opens, select the cost budget lines of the project for which a revision of the cost projection is to be created and click **Add Lines** or **Add Lines and Close**. (See the screenshot below.)

Se	elect	Budget Lines						×
	Č	$\times \!$	X					
		Project Task	Cost Code	Account Group	Description	UOM	Original Budg Budgeted (Quantity	eted CO Quantity
>		01	01-311	LABOUR	Operations- Project Manager	HOUR	240.00	0.00
		01	01-313	LABOUR	Operations- Superintendent	HOUR	300.00	0.00
		01	00-000	EQUIPMENT	DEFAULT		0.00	0.00
		01	01-505	OTHEREXP	Mobilization	EA	2.00	0.00
		01	01-600	OTHEREXP	Insurance	LS	1.00	0.00
		01	01-300	OTHEREXP	Permits	LS	1.00	0.00
4								+
							$ \langle \rangle \rangle$	>1
						Add Lines	Add Lines & Close	Close

Figure: Select Budget Lines dialog box

As a result, the selected cost budget lines are added to the table on the **Details** tab. Each line has the following projected values calculated by default:

- **Projected Cost to Complete** = Budgeted Cost (Actual + Unbilled Committed Cost)
- **Projected Cost at Completion** = Projected Cost to Complete + (Actual + Unbilled Committed Cost)
- **Projected Quantity to Complete** = Budgeted Quantity (Actual + Unbilled Committed Quantity)

- **Projected Quantity at Completion** = Projected Quantity to Complete + (Actual + Unbilled Committed Quantity)
- **Projected Completed (%)** = (Budgeted Cost- Projected Cost to Complete) / Budgeted Cost * 100%

For each line, in the **Mode** column, the user can select a data entry mode, which can be one of the following (as shown in the screenshot below):

- *Auto*: The user can manually specify one of the projected values, and the other values are recalculated automatically.
- *Manual*: The user can manually modify any of projected values, and the other values are not recalculated.
- Manual Quantity: If the user manually modifies the **Projected Quantity to Complete** or **Projected Quantity at Completion** value, the other values are not recalculated. If the user modifies any value other than a projected quantity value, the other values are recalculated automatically.
- Manual Cost: If the user manually modifies the **Projected Cost to Complete** or **Projected Cost at Completion** value, the other values are not recalculated. If the user modifies any value other than a projected cost value, the other values are recalculated automatically.

Cost Projection 🕁													otes Files	Tools 👻
B ∽ +	i K	< >	>I Actions	Copy Revisio	n									
Project:	PR0	0000109 - The Bea	ch Hotel and C 🖇	🖉 * Class:	(CTAGCC - Cost Ta	sk + Accoi 🔎 🧷	Budgeted			Projec	ted		Ŷ
* Revision:	1		2	* Revision	n Date:	12/10/2020 -		Total Cost to 0	Complete:	8,331,686.4	1 26	966,491.21		
Status:	On H	Hold 🗹 H	old					Total Cost at C	Completion:	28,670,304.7	1 47	305,109.51		
Description:														
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·														
Details Approval Deta	ils													
Ö + X	Select Budg	get Lines View C	commitment Deta	ils View Trans	actions His	tory ↔ 🕱	1.							
escription	UOM	Budgeted Quantity	Budgeted Cost	Actual + Committed Open Quantity	Actual + Committed Open Cost	Quantity To Complete	Cost To Complete	Projected Quantity to Complete	Projected Cost to Complete	Projected Quantity at Completion	Projected Cost at Completion	Projecte Complete (۹	Mode	
DEFAULT									0.00		0.00	0.0	Auto	•
Permits	LS	1.00	15,000.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	15,000.00	1.00	15,000.00	1.00	15,000.00	0.0	Auto	
Operations- Project Ma	HOUR	240.00	12,000.00	0.00	0.00	240.00	12,000.00	240.00	12,000.00	240.00	12,000.00	0.0	Manual Manual Quant	
Operations- Superinten	HOUR	300.00	14,400.00	0.00	0.00	300.00	14,400.00	300.00	14,400.00	300.00	14,400.00	0.0	Manual Quant Manual Cost	ny
vobilization	EA	2.00	15,000.00	0.00	0.00	2.00	15,000.00	2.00	15,000.00	2.00	15,000.00	0.0	Auto	

Figure: Data entry modes available for a budget line

If the cost budget of the project has been updated, the user can click **Actions** > **Refresh Budget** on the screen toolbar. As a result, the lines that have been deleted from the project cost budget will be removed from the table on the **Details** tab and the settings of the remaining lines will be properly updated.

Also, users can use the following buttons on the table toolbar of the **Details** tab:

- View Commitment Details: Opens the Commitments screen (PM306000) in a popup window with the commitment details for the selected cost budget line.
- **View Transactions**: Opens the Project Transactions screen (PM305000) in a popup window with the project transactions linked with the selected cost budget line.
- **History**: Opens the **History** dialog box, where the user can compare the settings of the selected budget line through all revisions of the cost projection.

To create a new revision of the cost projection that will be based on the currently selected revision, the user needs to click **Copy Revision** on the screen toolbar.

A user can modify a cost projection only while it is on hold. When a cost projection is prepared, the user clears the **Hold** check box.

Cost Projection Approval

If the *Approval Workflow* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), approval of cost projections can be configured in the system as follows:

- 1. An approval map for cost projections should be created on the Assignment and Approval Maps screen (*EP205500*).
- 2. The approval map should be specified in the **Cost Projection Approval Map** box on the General Settings tab of the Projects Preferences screen (PM101000).
- 3. If an employee needs to receive notifications about pending approval when cost projections require approval from that employee, a corresponding notification template can be created on the Notification Templates screen (SM204003) and then specified in the **Cost Projection Approval Notification** box on the **General Settings** tab of the Project Preferences screen.

After approval of cost projections has been configured, once a cost projection is taken off hold, it gets the *Pending Approval* status and requires approval by an authorized employee who can approve or reject the cost projection by using the **Approve** or **Reject** actions on the screen toolbar of the Cost Projection screen (PM305000).

An approved cost projection gets the *Open* status, and a rejected cost projection is put back on hold.

Information about approvals is recorded for each revision of a cost projection on the Approval Details tab of the Cost Projection screen.

By clicking **Actions** > **Release** on the screen toolbar of the Cost Projection screen (PM305000) (shown in the following screenshot), the user can release a cost projection with the *Open* status and with the same budget level as the cost budget level of the project.

On release, the status of the cost projection changes to *Released* and the projected values are copied to the corresponding cost budget lines on the Projects screen (PM301000)—see the following section for details.

Changes to the Projects Screen

A **Cost Projection** option has been added to the Inquiries menu on the screen toolbar of the Projects screen (PM301000). By clicking this menu option, a user can open the Cost Projection screen (PM305000) where the project ID will be prefilled and the latest revision of the project's cost projection (if any) will be displayed.

On the Cost Budget tab, the following columns have been added to the table (shown in the following screenshot):

- Projected Cost to Complete
- Projected Cost at Completion
- Projected Quantity to Complete
- Projected Quantity at Completion
- Projected Completed (%)

The values displayed in those columns are taken from the latest released revision (if any) of the related cost projection.

Project Change Management

Users of MYOB Advanced Construction Edition can control changes of the project's budgeted and committed values and control the profitability of every change initiated by a customer. The change order is a document for profitability analysis and an audit trial of changes to the project revenue budget, commitments, and budgeted costs. Change orders do not alter the original figures of a project directly; they are tracked separately from the original figures for analysis.

Change orders are enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), and provide the following functionality:

• The ability to record changes to project revenue budget, cost budgets, and commitments. With the change order workflow enabled for a project, the revised values of the project are calculated as original values affected by change orders as follows: Revised Amount = Original Amount + Released Change Orders.

The screenshots below show change order columns on the Revenue Budget and Cost Budget tabs of the Projects screen (PM3010000).

Projects													(Notes	Files N	lotifications	Tools +
~	Save & Close	≞ ∽	+ 🗊	IK K	> >I R	tun Project	Billing Cr	eate Change	Request	Create Change Or	der Actions	- Inquirie	es + Reports	Ŧ			
* Proje	ct ID:		PR00000106		* م	Status:	Activ	*	Actua	l Income:	1,245,333.4	15					×
Custo	mer:		FLAGLER - F	lagler Family Tru	st 🔎 🖉		- Hol	ł	Actua	l Expenses:	870,633.6	5					
Summar	y Balances	Cost Budget	Commitments	Change Orders	Revenue Budget	Invoices	Approval Det	ails Tasks	Employees	Change Requests	Union Locals	Equipment	Activity History	Settings	Attributes	Mailing Settin	ngs _沙
Proje	ct Task:				,> □ Grou	p by Task	Pendin	g Invoice Am	ount Total:	40,640.75							
Ċ	+ ×	View Transact	ions ⊷	t x										All	Records		• Y
	*Project Task	c Cost Code	*Account	Group Desc	ription			Origi Budge Quan	inal UOM ted tity	Unit Rat	e Orig Budgi Amo	gina Budg ete d	eted CO Bud Quantity	lgeted CO Amount	Potential Quant	CO Potent tity Ar	tial CO mount
> 0 🗅	01	00-00	0 REVENUE	E GEN	ERAL REQUIREMEN	TS		0.	00 LS	0.0	0 33,950	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.	00	0.00
0 0	02	00-00	0 REVENUE	e site	WORK			0.	00 LS	0.0	0 160,986	5.00	0.00	0.00	0.	00	0.00
0 D	03	00-00	0 REVENUE	E CON	ICRETE			0.	00 LS	0.0	0 322,624	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.	00	0.00
0 0	05	00-00	0 REVENUE	E MET	ALS			0.	00 LS	0.0	0 8,000	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.	00	0.00
0 D	06	00-00	0 REVENUE	e woo	DDS, PLASTICS, COM	MPOSITES		0.	00 LS	0.0	0 138,141	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.	00	0.00
0 0	07	00-00	0 REVENUE	E THE	RMAL AND MOISTU	IRE PROTE	CTION	0.	00 LS	0.0	0 165,963	8.00 <mark>0</mark>	0.00 3	1,355.00	0.	00	0.00
0 0	08	00-00	0 REVENUE	e ope	NINGS			0.	00 LS	0.0	0 138,442	2.00	0.00	0.00	0.	00	0.00
0 0	09	00-00	0 REVENUE	E FINI	SHES			0.	00 LS	0.0	0 392,855	5.00	0.00 1	8,652.00	0.	00	0.00
0 0	10	00-00	0 REVENUE	E SPEC	CIALTIES			0.	00 LS	0.0	0 18,574	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.	00	0.00

Figure: The values of the revenue budget of a project affected by change orders

Projects														0) Notes	Files N	otifications	Tools -
← Save & C	ilose 🖺 🖌	+ 🗊	I< <	> >	Run Proj	ect Billing	Create (Change	Request	Create Chan	ge Orde	er Actions	- Inquiri	es - Reports	-			
* Project ID:		PR00000106		Q	* Status:		Active	Ŧ	Actual	Income:		1,245,333.4	15					~
Customer:		FLAGLER - F	lagler Family Tru	st 🔎	0		Hold		Actual	Expenses:		870,633.6	5					
Summary Balan	ces Cost Budget	Commitments	Change Orders	Revenue B	udget Invoic	es Appro	val Details	Tasks	Employees	Change Req	uests (Union Locals	Equipment	Activity History	Settings	Attributes	Mailing Setting	js >
Project Task:				2) Group by Tas	k												
· د + ۲	< View Commit	ment Details	View Transactio	ns I⊷I	x .t.										All	Records		. 7
*Account Group	Description		В	Original UO udgeted Quantity	v	Unit Rate	e O Bud A	Drigin I dgetid mouit	Budgeted Quar	CO Budg tity	eted CO Amount	Rev Budgi Quai	ised eted l ntity	Revised Budgeted C Amount	Origin ommitte Quanti	Committ CO Quant	ied Comm iity CO Am	itted ount
MATERIAL	Roofing- Shingle	is, Tiles		1.00 EA		39,849.00	39,8	349.C	0	.00 22	654.00		1.00 6	2,503.00	4,000.0	0.	00	0.00
SUBCON	Roofing- Shingle	is, Tiles		1.00 LS		33,000.00	33,0	000.0	0	.00	0.00	1	1.00 3	3,000.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00
MATERIAL	Roofing- Flashin	g and Sheet Met	al	1.00 LF		5,600.00	5,6	500.C	0	.00	0.00		1.00	5,600.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00
MATERIAL	DEFAULT			0.00		0.00		0.0	0	.00	0.00	0	0.00	0.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00
SUBCON	Doors- Interior			1.00 LS		35,000.00	35,0	00.0	0	.00	0.00		1.00 3	5,000.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00
SUBCON	Windows- Wood			1.00 LS		70,500.00	70,5	500.C	0	.00	0.00	1	1.00 7	0,500.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00
MATERIAL	Windows- Specia	alties		1.00 EA		3,680.00	3,6	580.C	0	.00	0.00		.00	3,680.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00
MATERIAL	Doors- Hardwar	2		1.00 EA		4,900.00	4,9	00.00	0	.00	0.00		1.00	4,900.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00
MATERIAL	DEFAULT			0.00		0.00		0.0	0	.00	0.00	0	0.00	0.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00
SUBCON	Flooring- Tile			1.00 LS		86,326.00	86,3	26.0	0	.00	0.00	1	.00 8	6,326.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00
SUBCON	Flooring- Carpet			1.00 LS		168,540.00	168,5	i40.0	0	.00 15	326.00	1	1.00 18	3,866.00	0.0	0.	00	0.00

Figure: The values of the cost budget of a project affected by change orders

• The ability to review the list of change orders related to a project on the **Change Orders** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000), as shown in the following screenshot:

Projects					D N	lotes Files	Notifications Tools
← Save & Close 🖹 ∽	+ 🗊 K K	> > Run Project	t Billing Create Chang	e Request Create Change O	rder Actions -	Inquiries 👻 I	Reports +
* Project ID:	PR00000106	,O * Status:	Active ~	Actual Income:	1,245,333.45		^
Customer:	FLAGLER - Flagler Family T	rust 🔎 🧷	Hold	Actual Expenses:	870,633.65		
Template:	CONHOMEBLD - Constructi	on Custom H 🧷		Margin:	374,699.80	96:	30.09
* Description:	Flager Custom Home						
Currency Rate for Budget:	AUD 1.00 -	View base					
Summary Balances Cost Budget C	Commitments Change Order	s Revenue Budget Invoices	Approval Details Tasks	Employees Change Requests	Union Locals Eq	uipment Activit	/ History Settings
ଧ + ା ଛ						All Records	• Y
Reference Class Nbr.	Revenue Status Change Nbr.	* Description	*Chang */ Date [Apprc Cont External Time Reference Char Days	Revenue Com Budget Cha Change 1 Total	nmitr Cost ange Budget Total Change Total	Reverse Orig. CO Ref. Status Nbr.
> 🖟 🗋 000001 CO	0001 Closed	Upgrade roofing tile	29/05/202 2	9/05/20	31,355.00	0.00 22,654.00	None
© □ 000002 co	0002 Closed	Upgrade carpet	29/05/20; 2	9/05/20:	18,652.00 0	0.00 15,326.00	None

Figure: The change orders related to the project

• The ability to see on the Commitments screen (PM306000) changes for each purchase order as well as the original and committed values, as shown in the following screenshot:

C	mm	itm	ents 🚖													Tools +
	Ċ	¢	Create Exten	nal Commitme	ent ↔ 🕅											ρ,
	Pro	oject	:	PR0000010	9 - The Beach Ho	otel and C 🔎	Revised Commi	112.00	Committed Recei	ved Qu	0.00					^
	Act	cour	nt Group:			ρ,	Revised Commi	3,966,982.00	Committed Invoid	ed Qu	0.00					
	Pro	ject	Task:	09 - FINISH	ES	Q.	Committed Op	112.00	Committed Invoid	ed Am	0.00					
	Co	st C	ode:			,О	Committed Op	3,966,982.00								
	Inv	ento	ory ID:			م,										
	Rel	lated	d Document Type:	All Commitm	ments	Ψ.										
	All	Red	cords Cost Co	mmitments												
60	0	D	Related Document	Туре	*Branch	* Project	*Account Group	*Project Task	*Inventory ID	Cost Code	External Ref. Nbr	UOM	Project Currency	CO Quantity	CO Amount (Original mmitted Quantity
>	0		SC-000040	Internal	RBYTEMAIN	PR00000109	MATERIAL	09	SUBCON	09-912		LS	AUD	0.00	0.00	1.00
	0		SC-000038	Internal	RBYTEMAIN	PR00000109	MATERIAL	09	SUBCON	09-300		LS	AUD	0.00	0.00	1.00
	0		SC-000039	Internal	RBYTEMAIN	PR00000109	MATERIAL	09	SUBCON	09-200		LS	AUD	0.00	0.00	1.00
	0		Normal, 000036	Internal	RBYTEMAIN	PR00000109	MATERIAL	09	MATERIAL	09-680		EA	AUD	0.00	0.00	47.00
	0		SC-000040	Internal	RBYTEMAIN	PR00000109	MATERIAL	09	SUBCON	09-911		LS	AUD	0.00	0.00	1.00
	0		Normal, 000036	Internal	RBYTEMAIN	PR00000109	MATERIAL	09	MATERIAL	09-680		EA	AUD	0.00	0.00	60.00
	0		SC-000039	Internal	RBYTEMAIN	PR00000109	MATERIAL	09	SUBCON	09-560		LS	AUD	0.00	0.00	1.00
-1																

Figure: The values of commitments affected by change orders

• The ability to see on the **Change Orders** tab of the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000) the list of change orders that affect the purchase order, as shown in the following screenshot:

Purchase Ore	ders													۵	Notes Activ
← Save	e & Clo	ise 🗄	5	+ 🗊	0 - K	<	>	>I Actio	ons = R	eport	S *				
Type:		Normal	Ŧ	Supplier:	CAR	PCO - Tolive	ers Carpe	ts & Tiles	0	Lin	e Total:	1,568,052.90			
Order Nbr.:	: [000036	Q	Location:	RBY	FEMAIN - P	rimary Lo	cation		Dis	count Total:	0.00			
		Hold		Owner:						GS.	F Exempt Tot	0.00			
Status:		Open		Currency:	AUD	1.00	~	View bas	se	GS.	Taxable Tot	1,650,582.00			
* Date:		8/08/202	0	Supplier Re	f.:					Тах	Total:	165,058.20			
Promised C	Dn:	23/09/20	20							Ret	ainage Total:	82,529.10			
Description	n:	Carpet								Ord	ier Total:	1,815,640.20			
Document D	Details	Tax Deta	ils Shippin	g Instructions	Supplier Inf	o Discoun	t Details	PO History	Prepayr	ments	Change Orders	5 Other Information	Compliance		
⊘ ⊶	X														
🗄 🖟 🗋 Re	eference	Nbr.	Class	Revenue Cha	nge Nbr.	Status	Descript	tion	Change Date		Approval Date	Contract Time Change, Days	Reverse Status	Orig. CO Ref. Nbr.	External Reference Nbr.
> 0 🗅 00	00004		DEFAULT	0002		On Hold	Change	e order	12/10/20	20	12/10/2020		None		
0 00	00004		DEFAULT	0002		On Hold	Change	e order	12/10/20	20	12/10/2020		None		

Figure: The change orders related to the purchase order

• The ability to see the profitability of every change of the project budget initiated by the customer.

Projects with the Change Order Workflow

To enable the change order workflow for a project, a user should do the following:

- 1. On the Enable/Disable Features (CS100000) screen, enable the Change Orders feature.
- 2. On the **Summary** tab of the Projects (PM101000) screen, select the **Change Order Workflow** check box, and save changes to the project.

The change order workflow may include the following stages:

- Change order entry
- Change order approval
- Change order printing and emailing
- Change order release
- Change order reversal

Project Budget Freeze

During the initial stage of a project, after the project budget has been agreed upon, the user can lock the original figures from further editing by using the **Lock Budget** action on the Projects screen (PM301000). After the original values are locked, the following scenarios can be used to update the revised budget figures:

• If the project does not use the change order workflow, the revised budget figures can be edited manually on the Projects screen (PM301000).

The following columns of the project with the locked budget are read-only on the **Revenue Budget** and **Cost Budget** tabs of the Projects screen (PM301000): **Budgeted Quantity**, **Unit Rate**, and **Budgeted Amount**.

• With the change order workflow enabled for the project, the revised budget figures become read- only, and all changes to the project budget can be made only with change orders. The system updates the revised budget figures based on the change orders as follows: **Revised Amount** = **Original Amount** + the amount of the released change orders.

The following columns of the project with the locked budget are read-only on the **Revenue Budget** and **Cost Budget** tabs of the Projects screen (PM301000): **Budgeted Quantity**, **Unit Rate**, **Budgeted Amount**, **Revised Quantity**, and **Revised Amount**.

The Lock Budget action on the Projects screen (PM301000) applies to both the **Revenue** Budget and Cost Budget tabs of the Projects screen (PM301000). The Unlock Budget action makes the original budget figures available for editing even if the change order workflow has been enabled for the project.

Creating Change Orders

A new change order can be created either directly on the Change Orders screen (PM308000) or on the Projects screen (PM301000) if the user clicks **Create Change Order** on the screen toolbar. In the change order, the user can enter the necessary amendments to the project budget and commitments. The change order provides the ability to see the original budgeted amounts, the approved and draft change order amounts, and the revised budgeted amounts when a user edits a change order line. The following user scenarios are supported on the Change Orders screen (PM308000):

- On the **Revenue Budget** and **Cost Budget** tabs (see the following screenshots):
 - o Creation of a new budget line with a positive amount
 - o Creation of a new budget line with a negative amount
 - Addition to an existing budget line
 - o Deduction from an existing budget line

Cha	nge (Orders										🗋 Notes	Activities	Files Notif	ications To	ools +
~		Save & Close	n 🖓 .	+ 🛈 🗘 -	$\langle \rangle \rangle$	Release	Actions +	Reports 🛪								
R	eferen	ice Nbr.: 00000	14 - Ch 🔎	* Class:	DEFAULT - Default	Change Orde	er Cla 🔎 🧷	Revenue E	ludget Change To	tal:	5,200.00					~
Ch	ange I	Requests Reven	ue Budget Cos	st Budget Commitme	nts Detailed Description	Attributes	Approval Details	Compliar	nce		0.00					
Č		+ × Vie	ew Change Requ	iest Details Select	Budget Lines ↔ 🗵	1 1							All	Records	*	Y
8 (* Project Task	Cost Code	* Account Group	Description			Quantity	Change Request Total Quantity	UOM	Unit Rate	Change Request Total Amount	Amount	Original Budgeted Quantity	Origina Budgeter Amoun	al :d A nt
> (02	00-000	REVENUE	SITEWORK			5.00	0.00	LS	200.00	0.00	1,000.00	0.00	1,809,185.00	0
6		03	00-000	REVENUE	CONCRETE			20.00	0.00	LS	35.00	0.00	700.00	0.00	8,319,840.00	0
6		04	00-000	REVENUE	MASONRY			12.00	0.00	LS	100.00	0.00	1,200.00	0.00	1,210,648.00	0
6		05	00-000	REVENUE	METALS			10.00	0.00	LS	80.00	0.00	800.00	0.00	1,901,356.00	0
6		06	00-000	REVENUE	WOODS, PLASTICS, COMP	POSITES		30.00	0.00	LS	50.00	0.00	1,500.00	0.00	1,225,000.00	0

Figure: The Revenue Budget tab of the Change Orders screen (PM308000)

Change Orders									C	Notes Activ	ities Files	Notifications	Tools +
← Save & Cl	ose 🗎 🖍	+ 🗉	□ - I< < >	>I Release	Actions -	Reports 👻							
Reference Nbr.:	000004 - Ch 🔎	* Class:	DEFAULT - Defa	ult Change Order	Cla 🔎 🧷 F	Revenue Budg	et Change Total:	5,200.00					~
Status:	On Hold	Project:	PR00000109 - T	he Beach Hotel ar	nd Con 🧷 🖉	Commitments	Change Total:	0.00					
Change Requests	Revenue Budget	Cost Budget Co	mmitments Detailed Descriptio	n Attributes Ap	pproval Details	Compliance							
ڻ + ×	View Change	Request Details	Select Budget Lines ↔	1. X							All Records		• 7
🗟 🕕 🗅 *Project	Task Cost Code	*Account Group	Description	Change Request Total Quantity	Quantity	UOM	Unit Rate	Change Request Total Amount	Amount	Original Budgeted Quantity	Original Budgeted Amount	Previously Approved CO Quantity	Previo Approve Am
> 0 🗅 02	02-200	SUBCON	Site- Prep	0.00	1.00	LS	365,194.00	0.00	365,194.00	1.00	365,194.00	0.00	
0 🗋 02	02-310	SUBCON	Earthwork- Cut and Fill	0.00	1.00	LS	226,315.00	0.00	226,315.00	1.00	226,315.00	0.00	

Figure: The Cost Budget tab of the Change Orders screen (PM308000)

- On the **Commitments** tab (see the following screenshot):
 - Creation of a new purchase order with a new line
 - o Addition of a new line to an existing purchase order
 - o Addition to an existing purchase order line
 - Deduction from an existing purchase order line

Note: The deduction from the amount and quantity of a purchase order line can be no greater than the **Received Qty.** and **Received Amount** of the line.

Ch	ange	e Orders												🗋 Note	s Activitie	s Files	Notifications	Tools +
÷	-	Save & Clo	ose 🗄	ŝ	+ 🗊	D - 10	<	>I Release	Actions 👻	Reports +								
1	Refer	ence Nbr.:	000004 -	Ch 🔎	* Class:		DEFAULT -	Default Change Orde	er Cla 🔎 🧷	Revenue Bu	idget Change Total:	5,20	0.00					~
1	Statu	s:	On Hold		Project:		PR0000010	9 - The Beach Hotel	and Con 🧷	Commitmer	nts Change Total:		0.00					
C	hang	e Requests	Revenue I	Budget C	Cost Budget	Commitments	Detailed Desci	iption Attributes	Approval Details	Complianc	e							
Ċ	5	+ ×	Select	Commitm	nents ↔	1 X										All Record	s	• 7
6	0	Change f Ref. Nbr.	lequest	Status	* Project Task	Cost Code	Inventory ID	 Description 	Quantity	UOM	Unit Cost	Amount	Account	*Supplier	Commitment	Туре	Commitment Nbr.	Order Date
>	0			Update	09	09-300	SUBCON	Finish- Tile	0.00	LS	377,500.00	0.00	500100	TILECO	Subcontract		SC-000038	8/08/2020
	0			Update	03	03-100	SUBCON	Concrete- Forming	0.00	LS	800,000.00	0.00	500100	SPEECO	Subcontract		SC-000033	11/02/202
	0			Update	09	09-680	MATERIAL	Flooring- Carpet	0.00	EA	15,426.00	0.00	500100	CARPCO	Purchase O	rder	000036	8/08/2020
	0			Update	09	09-680	MATERIAL	Flooring- Carpet	0.00	EA	15,426.00	0.00	500100	CARPCO	Purchase O	rder	000036	8/08/2020

Figure: The Commitments tab of the Change Orders screen (PM308000)

A change order document can also have the following attributes:

- Notes and attachments at the change order summary level
- Notes and attachments at the change order detail level
- Detailed description of the change order

A change order document has the following reference numbers:

- **Reference Nbr.**: The number of the change order in the system. This number is assigned to each change order based on the *CHANGEORD* numbering sequence, which is selected on the Project Preferences screen (PM101000) and can be reviewed or modified on the Numbering Sequences screen (CS201010).
- **Revenue Change Nbr.**: The number of the change order within the project. Each project has its own numbering sequence of change orders for printing. The **Revenue Change Nbr.** is an integer that the system assigns sequentially, starting from 1 and then 2, 3, and so on. The last assigned number for the project is shown in the **Last Revenue Change Nbr.** box in the **Project Properties** area of the **Summary** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000).

A user can manually change the **Revenue Change Nbr.** of a particular change order. (Duplicate numbers within a project are not allowed.) In this case, the user should respectively change the **Last Revenue Change Nbr.** of the corresponding project so that the system continues to assign these numbers correctly.

• **External Reference Nbr.**: The external reference number. This number is entered manually and can be populated with an identifier required by the customer or with the number from an external system integrated with MYOB Advanced.

For information about particular UI elements on the Change Orders screen (PM308000), see the "Change Orders" form reference topic in the MYOB Advanced User Guide.

Change Order Approval

A change order supports the standard MYOB Advanced approval process. An approval map can be configured on the Assignment and Approval Maps screen (EP205500) and then specified on the Project Preferences screen (PM101000) along with the default pending change order approval notification, as shown in the following screenshots:

Approval Maps			🗋 Notes	Activities	Files	Tools 👻
← Save & Clos	e 🗄 🖒 +	C - ŵ				
Map:	Change Order Approva	Map P Entity Type: Change Orders				
* Name:	Change Order Approva	Мар				
Steps	•	Conditions Rule Actions				
Add Step 🛨	т у х	* Description: Internal change orders				
🗉 🖿 Step		Z Active				
- 🕒 Internal cha	ange orders	Č + × Insert ↑ ↓ ⊣				
E Other chance	nge orders	🗄 Activ Brac *Entity *Field Name *Co Value	Value 2		Brac	Оре
E other chang	,	- Change Order Class Class ID Equals INTERNAL			-	And

Figure: An approval map for change orders

Projects Preferences 🛱				
General Settings Mailing Settings				
Numbering Sequence			Visibility Settings	
* Transaction Numbering Sequence:	PMTRAN - PM Transaction Numbering	0		🗹 GL 🗹 AP 🔽 AR 🗹 SO 🗹 PO
* Batch Numbering Sequence:	BATCH - GL Batch	0		🗹 IN 🗹 CA 🗹 CRM
* Pro Forma Numbering Sequence:	PROFORMA - PM Pro Forma Invoice Numberi	0		Time Entries Expenses
* Change Order Numbering Sequence:	CHANGEORD - PM Change Order Numbering	0	Restrict Project Selection:	All Projects ~
* Change Request Numbering Sequence:	CHANGERST - PM Change Request Numberin	0	Account Settings	
* Quote Numbering Sequence:	PMQUOTE - Quotes in Project	00	* Expense Account Source:	Labour Item *
General Settings			* Expense Sub. Source:	10-01-00
* Non-Project Code:	x		* Expense Accrual Account Source:	Labour Item Accrual -
* Empty Item Code:	<n a=""></n>		* Expense Accrual Sub. Source:	111-111-111
* Empty Item UOM:	HOUR	0	Markups	
Default Change Order Class:	DEFAULT - Default Change Order Class	0	Default Price Markup, %:	0.00
Default Quote Template:		0	Document Markups	
Project Approval Map:		0		× D
Pending Project Approval Notification:		0		
Pro Forma Approval Map:		0	B Type Descrip	tion value
Pending Pro Forma Approval Notification:		00		
Change Request Approval Map:		0		
Pending change Request Approval Notification.	Change Order Approval Man	2 0	No records found.	
Change Order Approval Map:	Change Order Notification	0 0	Try to modify parameter	ers above to see records here. 🗀 (+)
Pending Change Order Approval Notification:	Change Order Notification	~ ~		
Quote Approval Map:		0 0		
Quote Pending Approval Notification:		0 0		
Cost Projection Approval Map:		~ ~		

Figure: The approval map and approval notification to be used for change orders

The approval process is optional; the configuration of the approval process can be skipped and a user can create an approved change order right away.

Change Order Printing

A user can print a change order with any status. For the printing of change orders, the system uses the screen that is specified on the **Mailing Settings** tab of the Project Preferences screen (PM101000). By default, this is the Change Order report (PM643000), which is shown in the screenshot below. This report supports the printing of revenue budget lines, header-level and line-level notes, and detailed descriptions of change orders.

A user can override the default printed screen by defining a project-specific report on the **Mailing Settings** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000). For a project, a user can specify a custom print screen and email notification template that should be used for the printing and emailing of change orders prepared for the project. On the **Billing Settings** tab of the Projects screen, a user can also specify the contact information of the customer to whom change orders prepared for the project should be sent.

Rap 301 Melt Pho	id Byte Hea Sussex Str ourne, VIC ne: 03 678!	ad Quarters eet 2, 3033 58976	ny e	ok			CHAN Reference N Change Date Completion Customer ID Currency Project Refe Project CO N Contract Tin Description	NGE br. Date Trence N Nbr. ne Chan	E OF	RDEF 000002 29-May-21 29-May-21 29-May-21 FLAGLEF AUD PR00000 0002 Upgrade of	2 020 020 106 carpet
AP	PROVED	CHANGE	REQUESTS								
REF	. NBR.	CHAN	IGE DATE	DESCRIPTIO	N						AMOUNT
REV NO.	VENUE B PROJECT TASK	UDGET COST COD	EDESCRIPTION	BUDGETED AMOUNT	PREVIOUSLY APF CO A	PROVED	CURRENT CO QTY	UOM	UNIT RATE C	CURREN CO AMOUN	r REVISED
1	FINISHES	00000	FINISHES	392,855.00			0.00	LS	0.00	18652.00	411507.00
						Reference	ce Nbr.			000	002
						Original Previous	Revenue Bu sly Approved	dget To I CO Tot	tal (AUD) tal (AUD)	190	31223.0000 31355.0000
						Change Prior Re	Order Total (AUD) ue Bude	net Total		18,652.00
						Revised	Revenue Bu	dgetTo	al (AUD)	(100)	2011230.00
co	NTRACT	OR				OWNE	R				
Rap 301 Mel	bid Byte He Sussex St bourne, VI	ad Quarters reet C, 3033 58976	;			Flagler F	amily Trust				
Pho	me. 03 070	50510									

Figure: Change Order (PM643000) report

Release of a Change Order

When a change order is released, the balances and commitments of the corresponding project are updated as follows:

- If the project has a revenue budget line with the same project task, cost code or inventory item, and account group as a revenue budget line of the change order, the system updates the following columns of the revenue budget line of the project on the **Revenue Budget** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000):
 - **Budgeted CO Quantity** = The total quantity of released change orders
 - **Budgeted CO Amount:** = The total amount of released change orders
 - Revised Budgeted Quantity = Original Budgeted Quantity + Budgeted CO Quantity
 - Revised Budgeted Amount = Original Budgeted Amount + Budgeted CO Amount
 - Pending Invoice Amount = Completed (%) * Revised Budgeted Amount Actual Amount – Draft Invoices Amount

Note: As the result of the update, this amount can take rational values, including negative ones.

- If the project does not have a revenue budget line with the same project task, cost code or inventory item, and account group as a revenue budget line of the change order, the system creates a new revenue budget line for the project based on the revenue budget line of the change order.
- If the project has a cost budget line with the same project task, cost code or inventory item, and account group as a cost budget line of the change order, the system updates the following columns of the cost budget line of the project on the **Cost Budget** tab of the *Projects screen*:
 - **Budgeted CO Quantity** = The total quantity of released change orders
 - **Budgeted CO Amount:** = The total amount of released change orders
 - Revised Budgeted Quantity = Original Budgeted Quantity + Budgeted CO Quantity
 - Revised Budgeted Amount = Original Budgeted Amount + Budgeted CO Amount
- If the project does not have a cost budget line with the same project task, cost code or inventory item, and account group as a cost budget line of the change order, the system creates a new cost budget line for the project based on the cost budget line of the change order.
- If a commitment line of the change order has the *Update* status, the system updates the following values of the corresponding purchase order line on the **Document Details** tab of the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000) based on the commitment line of the change order:
 - Order Qty. = Original Order Qty. of the purchase order line + Quantity of the commitment line of the change order
 - Open Quantity = Order Qty. Qty. on Receipts
 - **Ext. Cost** = Original **Ext. Cost** of the purchase order line + **Amount** of the commitment line of the change order
 - Open Amount = Ext. Cost Received Amount
 - **Requested Date = Date** of the commitment line of the change order

- If a commitment line of the change order has the *New Line* status, the system adds a new line with the following values to the corresponding purchase order to the **Document Details** tab of the *Purchase Orders* based on the commitment line of the change order:
 - **Order Qty.** = **Quantity** of the commitment line of the change order
 - Ext. Cost = Amount of the commitment line of the change order
 - **Requested Date = Date** of the commitment line of the change order
- If any commitment lines of the change order have the *New Document* status, the system groups these lines by supplier and produces a new purchase order document for each supplier based on the commitment lines of the change order as follows:
 - The **Order Date** of a created purchase order is the earliest date of the commitment lines of the change order.
 - The **Requested Date** of each purchase order line is the **Date** of the commitment line of the change order.
 - The system generates the default description of a created purchase order by using the following formula: Description = 'Change Order #' + [PMChangeOrder.RefNbr].

Note: A purchase order that originates from a change order cannot be edited or removed and can be only cancelled, completed, or altered by another change order.

- For each purchase order line updated by a change order, the system updates the corresponding project commitment on the Commitments screen (PM306000). For each purchase order line created from a change order, the system creates a new project commitment. In these commitments, the following values are updated as follows:
 - **Revised Committed Quantity = Order Qty.** of the purchase order line
 - Revised Committed Amount = Ext. Cost of the purchase order line
 - Committed CO Quantity = Revised Committed Quantity Original Committed Quantity
 - Committed CO Amount = Revised Committed Amount Original Committed Amount
 - Committed Open Amount = Open Amount of the purchase order line

If the project has a cost budget line with the same project task, cost code or inventory item, and account group as an updated or newly created commitment, the system updates the cost budget line of the project on the **Cost Budget** tab of the Projects screen. Otherwise, the system creates a new cost budget line for the project based on the commitment.

For information about particular UI elements on the Projects screen (PM301000), see the "Projects" form reference topic in the MYOB Advanced User Guide.

Change Order Reversal

After release, a change order can no longer be changed and can only be reversed. When the change order is reversed, the system creates a new change order with lines that reverse the impact of the original change order.

In this reversing change order, the quantity and amount of a commitment line cannot be greater than the **Received Qty.** and **Received Amount** of the corresponding purchase order line.

A commitment line of this reversing change order also cannot reduce the **Order Qty.** of a purchase order line to zero—a user can cancel the purchase order line in this case.

Change Order Classes

Change order classes make it possible to split change orders by their impact on projects and by additional attributes that classes can have. A user can also segregate changes by class in reports to analyse, for example, which types of changes have the greatest impact on project profitability. For instance, by using a change order class, a user can create an internal change order that does not affect the revenue budget of projects and is not assigned any reference number within a project. This class of change orders does not have the **Revenue Budget** tab on the Change Orders screen (PM308000).

A list of attributes can be also specified for a change order class to be available in each change order belonging to the class. Change order classes support the use of global attributes defined on the Attributes screen (CS205000).

Change order classes can be configured on the Change Order Classes screen (PM203000), which is shown in the following screenshot.

Change	e Order Classes											
~	Save & Close		S	+	Ū	Ĉ -	к	<	>	>		
* Clas	ss ID:	INTER	NAL - I	nternal	Change	Q	🗹 🗸	ctive				
* Des	cription:	Interna	al Chan	ge Orde	r							
		<mark> 2-</mark> tie	r Chang	e Mana	gement							
Details	Attributes											
V (Cost Budget											
V F	Revenue Budget											
V	Commitments											

Figure: Change Order Classes screen (PM203000)

The default change order class, which is assigned to each newly created document on the Change Orders screen, can be specified on the Project Preferences screen (PM101000).

For information about particular UI elements on the Change Order Classes screen (PM203000), see the "Change Order Classes" form reference topic in the MYOB Advanced User Guide.

Purchase Order Workflow with Change Orders

Change orders can be created for the *Normal* type of purchase orders. The change order workflow affects the standard purchase order life cycle as follows:

- The change order workflow is automatically enabled for a normal purchase order if at least one purchase order line refers to a project with the change order workflow enabled.
- After a purchase order with the change order workflow has been assigned the Open status, the purchase order cannot be removed or put on hold.
- A purchase order with the Pending Print or Pending Email status cannot be removed from the system if there is a change order that refers to this purchase order.
- A purchase order with the Open status and with the change order workflow enabled can be modified by means of change orders only.

• A purchase order with the Open status or an open line of this purchase order can be cancelled or completed.

Ability to Control the Original Committed Values

At the initial stage of a project, after the original commitments have been agreed on with suppliers and entered into the system, a user can lock the commitments for the project, after which all further amendments to the committed figures should be tracked as project changes by change orders. The following commands in the **Actions** menu become available on the Projects screen (PM301000) when the change order workflow is enabled for a project:

- Lock Commitments: When this action is applied for a project, purchase orders for this project cannot be created directly on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000), existing purchase orders cannot be put on hold, and the commitments of the project can be modified by means of change orders only.
- **Unlock Commitments**: This action gives users the ability to directly enter purchase orders for the project.

Converting Requests for Information and Project Issues to Change Requests

In MYOB Advanced Construction Edition, users can convert requests for information (RFIs) and project issues to change requests.

A **Convert to Change Request** button is available on the screen toolbar of the Request for Information (PJ301000) and Project Issue (PJ302000) screens. This button is available for documents with the *Open* status.

If the **Change Order Workflow** check box is selected for the linked project, on the **Summary** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000), then after the user clicks **Convert to Change Request**, the Change Requests screen (PM308500) opens, filled in with data from the corresponding RFI or project issue. A new change request is created when the user clicks **Save** on the screen toolbar. The original document (RFI or project issue) then gets the *Closed* status along with the *Converted to Change Request* reason.

Submittals

MYOB Advanced Construction Edition includes submittals functionality, which is used to track the progress and status of the approval of the submittal documents and items, such as shop drawings, material samples, and product data.

Settings for Submittals

On the Project Management Preferences screen (PJ101000), the new **Submittal Settings** tab has been added (see the following screenshot). In the **Submittal Numbering Sequence** box, an administrative user specifies the numbering sequence to be used for submittals. In the **Submittal Types** table, the user can add (and delete, if needed) types of submittals, which are used to categorize submittals and can be used to filter submittals on the Submittals screen (PJ3060PL). Initially, the *Schedules* type is predefined in the system.

roject	t Managen	nent Preferences	☆			
B	5					
Gener	ral Settings	Daily Field Report O	Copy Settings	Weather Service Inte	egration Settings	Submittal Settings
Subn	nittal Settin	gs				
* Sul	bmittal Num	nbering Sequence:	SUBMITTAL	- Submittal 🖉 🔎	0	
Su	ubmittal Ty	pes				
(ථ +	×				
8	*Submittal	Туре	Description			
>	Schedules		Schedules			
	Photos		Photos			
	Product Sa	mples	Product Sar	nples		

Figure: The Submittal Settings tab

After a submittal type has been saved, it cannot be changed. If the submittal type needs to be corrected, the user must delete the type and create a new one with the necessary settings.

Note: A submittal type cannot be deleted if it has been used in at least one submittal.

Submittal Processing Workflow

Users can enter, modify, and process submittals on the Submittals screen (PJ306000), which is shown in the following screenshot.

* Submittal ID:	SU-000001 🔎	* Project:	PR00000109 - The Beach Ho 🔎	* Date Created:	12/10/2020 -
* Revision ID:	ې ٥	Project Task:	Q	Due Date:	v
Status:	New	Cost Code:	Q	Date Required on Site:	-
Reason:	New -	Specification:		Date Closed:	
Submittal Type:	٩	Spec. Section:		* Owner:	EP00000044 - Andre 🔎
* Summary:	Furnishings for suites			Ball in Court:	Andrews Michael, Mr.
				Days Overdue:	

Figure: The Submittals screen

Generally, the processing of a submittal consists of the following steps:

- 1. A user (who is then designated as the owner of the submittal) enters the submittal in the system. The submittal has the *New* status. If the owner has the submittal documents, the owner can add these documents and send them for approval at this point.
- 2. When the submittal is ready, the owner indicates that the processing of the submittal has been started by opening the submittal in the system. The submittal has the *Open* status. If the documents have not yet been added, the owner sends an email to the responsible person in the submittal workflow to notify this person that they need to submit documents or review them.
- 3. The submitter submits documents to the owner (if they have not been added by the owner).
- 4. The owner sends the submittal documents or items for approval. The responsible persons approve or reject the submittal documents or items.
- 5. Optional: The owner sends the submittal documents or items for review.
- 6. The owner indicates that the processing of the submittal has been completed by closing the submittal in the system. The submittal has the *Closed* status.

Also, at any appropriate time in the workflow, emails can be sent to responsible parties and a print-friendly version of the submittal can be generated. These steps are described in the sections that follow.

Entering a Submittal

When creating a new submittal, in the Summary area of the screen, the owner has to specify the project and a summary that describes the submittal, as the following screenshot shows. The owner can also specify the submittal type, the project task, the cost code, the specification reference number, the related section in the specification, the due date, and the date when the materials and items are required on site. In the **Revision ID** box, the system inserts *O* for the submittal, because it is newly created and thus has no revisions. In the **Date Created** box, the system inserts the current business date by default. The system also inserts the owner ID of the user who created the submittal in the **Owner** box; this user is also initially specified in the **Ball in Court** box, which tracks the party currently responsible for taking action on this submittal.

On the Description tab, the owner can enter a more complete description of the submittal. On the Submittal Workflow tab (shown in the screenshot below), the owner adds a row for each user with a role in processing this submittal. For each user, the owner specifies the following details:

• Contact information for the responsible person in the row. The owner selects a contact from the list of existing contacts or adds a new contact. The system fills in the company name, job title, email address, and phone number with the details that have been specified for the contact on the Contacts screen (CR302000).

To select an existing contact, the owner clicks the magnifier icon in the **Contact** column and selects the needed contact from the list of contacts in the lookup table. To create a new contact, in the lookup table, the owner clicks **Add New Record**. The system opens the Contacts screen, on which the owner specifies the contact details.

- Role, which is one of the following options:
 - o Submitter: A person who provides the submittal documents or items.
 - *Approver*: A person who reviews and needs to approve the submittal documents or items.
 - *Reviewer*: A person who reviews the submittal but does not need to approve or reject the submittal documents or items.
- The number of days that are scheduled for the review or the providing of the submittal documents or items; a number of days may or may not be assigned.

Submittals	nittals												
← Save & Close 🖺 ∽ +	Û () - K K	> >I Send En	nail Open Subr	mittal Create Rev	vision Print	Submittal	Actions 👻						
* Submittal ID: SU-000001 \wp	* Project: PR000	00109 - The Beach Ho 🕽	O * Date Cre	eated: 1	2/10/2020 -								
* Revision ID: 0	Project Task:	J	O Due Dat	e:	-								
Status: New	Cost Code:	J	O Date Ree	quired on Site:	-								
Reason: New -	Specification:		Date Clo	osed:									
Submittal Type:	Spec. Section:		* Owner:	E	P00000044 - A	ndre 🔎							
* Summary: Furnishings for suites			Ball in C	ourt: A	ndrews Michae	I, Mr.							
			Days Ov	erdue:									
Description Submittal Workflow Activities													
\therefore \mathbb{H} \mathbb{H} \times $+$ \circlearrowright													
🖹 🕕 🗋 Email To *Contact Co	ompany Name	Job Title	*Role	Status	Start Date	Days for Review	Due Date	Completion Date					
> 🕼 🗋 🔹 Adkin, Darrell T	he Equity Group Investors	Purchasing	Approver	Planned		3							
🔍 🗋 👘 Sumnar Althea, Mr. 🛛 La	aserWorks, The	Designer	Submitter	Planned		2							
🛛 🗋 🔹 Alves Jordanna, Mr. G	Glog Consulting	Senior Consultant	Approver	Planned		3							

Figure: The Submittal Workflow tab

When the submittal is initially created, all the rows have the *Planned* status and the submittal has the *New* status.

Opening a Submittal

When the summary settings and the submittal workflow have been specified, the owner opens the submittal by clicking **Open Submittal** (or **Actions > Open Submittal**) on the screen toolbar. In the **Details** dialog box, which is opened, the owner then selects one of the following reasons, and clicks **OK** (see the following screenshot):

- *Issued*: Documents need to be submitted for the submittal documents or items.
- *Submitted*: The documents or items have been submitted and have to be sent for approval.
- *Pending Approval*: The documents or items have been submitted and sent for approval.

Submittals							
← Save & Clos	e 🗄 🖍 🕂	<u>□</u>	> >	Send Email	Open Submittal Create R	Revision Print Submittal	Actions 👻
* Submittal ID:	SU-000001	Project: PR	00000109 - The Be	ach Ho 🔎	* Date Created:	12/10/2020 -	
* Revision ID:	۶ ۵	Project Task:		Q,	Due Date:	-	
Status:	New	Cost Code:		Q,	Date Required on Site:	-	
Reason:	New	Specification:			Date Closed:		
Submittal Type:	, K	D Spec. Se Details			×	EP00000044 - Andre \mathcal{P}	
* Summary:	Furnishings for suites	* Reason:	Is	sued	•	Andrews Michael, Mr.	
Description Submi	ttal Workflow Activities		ls St Pé	sued ubmitted ending Approva	ncel		
ک + ×	↔ <u>x</u> 1						
🖻 🖟 🗋 Email To	*Contact	Company Name	Job Title	*Role	Status	Start Date Days for Review	Due Date

Figure: The Details dialog box

The system closes the dialog box; in the Summary area, it changes the submittal status to *Open* and the reason to the reason selected in the dialog box, as the following screenshot shows. The option in the **Reason** box can be overridden at any time during processing the submittal.

Sending Emails

To notify users that they need to submit documents or items or review them, the owner sends emails to each responsible person in the submittal workflow. Generally, the owner sends these emails to each user in the workflow one by one. To send an email, the owner does the following:

- 1. On the Submittals screen (PJ306000), selects the **Email To** check box on the **Submittal Workflow** tab in the row of the user (or users) to whom you want to direct the current email.
- 2. Clicks the **Send Email** button on the screen toolbar. The system opens the Email Activity screen (CR306015) with the email addresses of the recipients selected in the **To** box.

3. Enters and sends the email. When the user sends the email, the system generates a PDF file (printed form) with the submittal and attaches it to the email.

Submittals																				
← Save & Clo	se (n + 0	Ū	0 - K	<	>	Ы	Send E	mail	Close S	ubmitta	l Cr	eate Re		Print Sub	mittal	Actions	Ŧ		
* Submittal ID:	SU-0	🕥 Email Activity -	Google Chro	ome	DDUU	000100	The R	aach Ha	0	* Data	Croates	da		10/10/000	0		-		×]
Status:	Open	advconstru	ction_docur	mentation_2	0203eap	.myoba	dvance	d.com/((W(1001	0))/pag	es/cr/cr	306015	.aspx?	timeStam	p=c5e9a6	2ced262	6341505	3853869	B	
Reason:	Subm	Email Activity													C	Notes	Files	Tools	* *	
* Summary:	Furni	Save & Close	E 4	∩ [†]	Send	Reply	Act	tions 👻	Attach	ı										
Description Subm	nittal We	* From:	admin									Q	Sul	bmittal). SI	000001]	
	inclui inc	* 10:	adkind@ec	qugrp.con ×									R	evision ID	; 0					-
\circ + \times	↔	BCC:										0	S	ummary:	Fu	rnishings	for suites	5		
🖻 🕕 🗋 Email To	*Cor	* Subject:	SU #[SU-0	00001-0 PR	00000109] Furnisl	hings fo	r suites				~								on
> 0 0	Adk	Message Det	ails																	
	Sum												_	_						
	Alve	Visual 👻 🖉)	(S Pa	aragraph	B	1	<u>U</u> +	<u>A</u> +	2 -	<u> </u>	Ξ	÷=	È	≡ 42	Insert	Layo	ut lab	les		
																			-	

Figure: Email about the submittal

The owner can send files in the email in either of the following ways:

- If the files are attached to the submittal on the *Submittals screen*, the owner attaches them to the email by using the **Attach** button on the toolbar of the Email Activity screen.
- If the files are not attached to the submittal, the owner attaches them to the email by using the **Files** button on the title toolbar of the Email Activity screen.

When the owner sends the email and closes the Email Activity screen and returns to the Submittals screen, the sent email is listed on the **Activities** tab; it can be opened from this tab. On the tab, the user can add and review submittal-related activities, such as tasks, events, emails, and activities (see the following screenshot).

Submittals											🗅 Not	es Files	Notifications	Tools +
← Save & Clos	e 🗄 🖍	+ 🗊	D - K	< >	>I Send I	Email	Close Submitta	al Create P	Revision	Print Submittal	Actions +			
* Submittal ID:	SU-000001	Q	* Project:	PR00000109 -	The Beach Ho	2	* Date Created	d:	12/10/	/2020				^
* Revision ID:	0	Q	Project Task:			2	Due Date:			*				
Status:	Open		Cost Code:			0	Date Require	ed on Site:		*				
Reason:	Submitted	*	Specification:				Date Closed:							
Submittal Type:		Q	Spec. Section:				* Owner:		EP000	000044 - Andre 🔎				
* Summary:	Furnishings for s	suites					Ball in Court	:	Andre	ws Michael, Mr.				
							Days Overdu	ie:						
Description Submi	ttal Workflow	ctivities												
Č X Add	Task Add Ever	nt Add Ema	il Add Activity	- ↔ <u>X</u>								All Activities		* 7
Ē0 D ✓ ! ¤	Туре	*Summary			Final Answer	Status		Start Date		Created At	Category	Workgroup	Owner	
> 0 D 🗸	🖾 Email	SU #[SU-0000	001-0 PR00000109]	Furnishings for.	. 🗆	Open		12/10/2020	3:00 PN	/ 12/10/2020 3:01 PM	/			

Figure: The Activities tab

Submitting Documents

If it is necessary to submit documents or items, the owner sends an email about the required actions to the submitter, as described in the previous section.

Then on the **Submittal Workflow** tab of the Submittals screen (PJ306000), the owner specifies *Pending* in the **Status** column of the row of the submitter. The system changes the name in the **Ball in Court** box of the Summary area to the name of the contact of the first row that has the *Pending* status on the **Submittal Workflow** tab; in this case, the contact is the submitter. On the **Submittal Workflow** tab, for the row of the submitter, the system inserts the current business date in the **Start Date** column and calculates the date in the **Due Date** column if a number of days for review is specified in this row, as the following screenshot shows. The date in the **Due Date** column can be overridden.

ubmittals								🗋 Notes
← Save & Cl	ose 🖹 🖒 🕂	□	< > > Send	Email Clos	se Submittal Crea	te Revision Print	Submittal	Actions 👻
* Submittal ID:	SU-000001	> * Project:	PR00000109 - The Beach H	o ,	ate Created:	12/10/2020		
* Revision ID:	0 \$	Project Task:		, Р	ue Date:	-		
Status:	Open	Cost Code:		, Р	ate Required on Site:	-		
Reason:	Submitted	Specification:		D	ate Closed:			
Submittal Type:	Ş	O Spec. Section:		* C	wner:	EP00000044 - A	ndre 🔎	
* Summary:	Furnishings for suites			В	all in Court:	Adkin, Darrell		
					ays Overdue:			
Description Subr	mittal Workflow Activities	;						
ڻ + ×	⊢ X 1							
0 🗋 Email To	*Contact	Company Name	Job Title	*Role	Status	Start Date	Days for Review	Due Date
	Adkin, Darrell	The Equity Group Investo	rs Purchasing	Approver	Pending	12/10/2020	3	15/10/202
	Sumnar Althea, Mr.	LaserWorks, The	Designer	Submitter	Planned		2	
	Alizza Izzalazza Ada	Glass Consulting	Contine Consultant	A	Diseased		-	

Figure: Submittal for which documents must be submitted

The submitter replies to the email and attaches the necessary submittal files to the email reply. The incoming email appears on the **Activity** tab of the Submittal screen.

The incoming email appears on the **Activity** tab only if the respondent (the submitter in this case) clicks **Reply** to reply to the email, which results in the following conditions being met:

- The response is sent to the same email address from which the emailwas received.
- The subject of the email is not changed.

The owner then adds the files to the submittal by using the **Files** button on the title toolbar of the screen, and changes the status of the row on the **Submittal Workflow** tab to *Completed* and the reason in the Summary area to *Submitted*. The system inserts the current date in the **Completion Date** column of the **Submittal Workflow** tab; if this tab has no more rows with the *Pending* status, the system changes the **Ball in Court** setting in the Summary area to the owner.

Approving Submittal Documents

When the necessary documents have been submitted, the owner sends an email with the documents to an approver from the Submittals screen (PJ306000). The submittal documents or items can be sent to approvers one at a time or to all approvers at the same time. The owner also specifies *Pending Approval* in the **Reason** box of the Summary area and changes the status of the row of the approver to *Pending* on the **Submittal Workflow** tab.

The system inserts the name of the approver in the **Ball in Court** box in the Summary area (if the owner has changed the status to *Pending* for multiple approvers on the **Submittal Workflow** tab, the system uses the name of the first such contact listed in the table). For each approver with the *Pending* status on the **Submittal Workflow** tab, the system also inserts the date in the **Start Date** column and calculates the date in the **Due Date** column if a number of days for review is specified for the applicable approvers.

After approving the documents and completing the review, the approver sends a notification email to the owner by clicking **Reply** to answer to the email.

In the **Status** column on the **Submittal Workflow** tab, the owner selects *Approved* in the row of the approver (see the following screenshot). The system inserts the current date in the **Completion Date** column on the **Submittal Workflow** tab and changes the **Ball in Court** setting to the owner or to the next approver if the *Pending* status is selected for multiple approvers; the following screenshot shows these changes as well.

If changes need to be made in the submittal documents or items, the approver sends an email to notify the owner that the submittal is rejected. On the Submittals screen (PJ306000), the owner specifies *Rejected* in the **Status** column in the appropriate row on the **Submittal Workflow** tab. The system inserts the current date in the **Completion Date** column of this row and changes the **Ball in Court** box to the owner in the Summary area.

Reviewing Submittal Documents

After the submittal documents or items have been approved, the owner sends an email with the documents to a reviewer or multiple reviewers from the Submittals screen (PJ306000) to notify them. The owner changes the status of the row of the reviewers to *Pending* on the **Submittal Workflow** tab.

The system inserts the name of the reviewer in the **Ball in Court** box in the Summary area; if the owner has changed the status to *Pending* for multiple reviewers on the **Submittal Workflow** tab, the system uses the name of the first such person listed in the table. For each reviewer with the *Pending* status on the **Submittal Workflow** tab, the system also inserts the date in the **Start Date** column and calculates the date in the **Due Date** column if a number of days for review is specified for the applicable reviewers.

If the reviewer has completed the review, the reviewer sends a notification email to the owner by clicking **Reply** to answer the email. In the **Status** column on the **Submittal Workflow** tab, the owner selects *Completed* in the row of the reviewer. The system inserts the current date in the **Completion Date** column of the row and changes the **Ball in Court** setting to either the owner or the next reviewer if the *Pending* status is selected for multiple reviewers.

Cancelling a Contact Row in the Workflow

If the action of a contact specified on the **Submittal Workflow** tab should be skipped, the owner can cancel the row of the contact by selecting *Cancelled* in the **Status** column for the row.

Closing a Submittal

If all approvals have been completed without any concerns, the owner closes the submittal by clicking **Close Submittal** on the screen toolbar; in the **Details** dialog box, which is opened, the owner specifies *Approved* in the **Reason** box and the date in the **Date Closed** box (see the following screenshot) and clicks **OK**. In the Summary area, the system inserts *Closed* in the **Status** box and *Approved* in the **Reason** box.

Submittals 🕁											
← Save & Clos	e 🖹 vî +	© - K	< > >I	Send Email	Close Sub	mittal Create	Revision Print S	Submittal	Actions +		
* Submittal ID:	SU-000001	Project:	PR00000109 - The Be	ach Ho 🔎	* Date Cre	eated:	12/10/2020				
* Revision ID:	0 3	D Project Task:		Q	Due Dat	te:	-				
Status:	Open	Cost Code:		Q	Date Re	quired on Site:	-				
Reason:	Submitted	Specification:			Date Clo	osed:					
Submittal Type:	ز	D Spec. Section:			* Owner:		EP00000044 - Ar	ndre 🔎			
* Summary:	Furnishings for suites	Deta	ils			×	Adkin, Darrell				
Description Submi	ttal Workflow Activities	* Re * Di	ason: ate Closed:	Approved Approved		-					
ڻ + ×	→ <u>X</u> <u>↑</u>			Approved as Rejected	Noted	ncel					
🖹 🕕 🗋 Email To	*Contact	Company Name	Job Title	Revise and R	esubmit		Start Date	Days for Review	Due Date	Completion Date	Date Received
> 0 D D	Adkin, Darrell	The Equity Group Investo	rs Purchasing	App	prover	Pending	12/10/2020	3	15/10/2020		
	Sumnar Althea, Mr.	LaserWorks, The	Designer	Sub	mitter	Planned		2			
	Alves Jordanna, Mr.	Glog Consulting	Senior Consult	ant App	orover	Planned		3			

Figure: The Details dialog box on closing of an approved submittal

If all approvals and reviews have been completed and any approver has approved the submittal with some concerns, the owner closes the submittal by clicking **Close Submittal** on the screen toolbar; in the Details dialog box, which is opened, the owner specifies *Approved as Noted* in the **Reason** box and the date in the **Date Closed** box and clicks **OK**. In the Summary area, the system inserts *Closed* in the **Status** box and *Approved as Noted* in the **Reason** box.

If the submittal did not fit the requirements, the owner closes the submittal by clicking **Close Submittal** on the screen toolbar; in the Details dialog box, which is opened, the owner specifies *Rejected* in the **Reason** box and the date in the **Date Closed** box of the **Details** dialog box, which appears. In the Summary area, the system inserts *Closed* in the **Status** box and *Rejected* in the **Reason** box.

If the submittal was rejected with some comments that should be taken into consideration, the owner needs to close the submittal and create a new revision of it. To close the submittal, the owner clicks **Close Submittal** on the screen toolbar; in the **Details** dialog box, which is opened, the owner specifies *Revise and Resubmit* in the **Reason** box and the date in the **Date Closed** box and clicks **OK**. In the Summary area, the system inserts *Closed* in the **Status** box and *Revise and Resubmit* in the **Reason** box.

In this case, because the rejection was not complete and this submittal could be approved with the needed changes made, the owner creates a new revision of this submittal by clicking the **Create Revision** button on the screen toolbar. The system creates a new revision of the submittal with the *New* status and the *Revision* reason, and increases the value in the **Revision ID** box by 1. The system also copies details from the original submittal to the **Details** and **Submittal Workflow** tabs.

Printing the Submittal

A user can print the screen with the submittal details by clicking **Print Submittal** on the toolbar of the Submittals screen (PJ306000). The system opens the Submittal Form (PJ663000), shown in the following screenshot, with the submittal details; this print-friendly version of the submittal can be printed.

Subn	nittal For	m 🏠											Tools 👻
0	Ċ		28	<	<	>	\geq	Print	Send	Export	-	Type your query here	Find
		1	n))		5	0				Rapid Byte Hea 301 Sussex Stre Melbourne, VIC, Phone: 03 6785	d Quarters set 3033 8976	Î
	SUB		IAL	. #St	J-00	0000	01-0						
	From Site Addre	ss 3	Aichael An	drews k Street					Project		PR00000109-The	Beach Hotel and Condominiums	
		4	Gold Coast 217	, AUSTRA	LIA				Project Cost Co	Task ode			
	Submittal Status Reason	Type C	Open Submitted						Specifi Spec S Date	cation ection	13/10/2020		
	SUMMARY	Y											
	Furnishing	s for suite	es										
	DESCRIPT	TION											
	Photograp	hs of furn	iishings foi	r hotel suite	es.								
	ATTACHM	ENTS											
	Number o	f attachn	nents:										

Figure: The printed submittal

Projects: Other Improvements

Retainage in Project Invoices

The ability to specify retainage in project invoices is available for any project if the *Retainage Support* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000). A user can specify the default retainage percentage for a project on the **Summary** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000), as shown in the following screenshot.

n Save & Close 🛛		Run Project Billing Create	Change Request	Create Change Orde	r Actions - Inqu	iiries + Reports +
Latitude:		country:	AU - AUSTRAL	IA		
Longitude:		State:				
Last Revenue Change N	0002	Postal Code:				
* Project Currency:	AUD \wp Set Rates	RETAINAGE				
Currency Rate Type:	SPOT 🔎 🧷	Retainage Mode:	Standard		-	
	Change Order Workflow	Contract Total:	39,715,457.00	Include CO		
	Allow Adding New Items to Subcontracts On the Fly	Completed (%):	33.77			
	Restrict Employees	Total Retained Amount:	670,598.57			
	Restrict Equipment	Visibility Settings				
	Track Production Data		🗹 GL 🛛 AP	🖌 AR 🗹 SO 🗹 P	D	
	Certified Job		🗹 IN 🗹 CA	CRM		
Billing And Allocation Settin	ngs		Time Entries	Expenses		
* Billing Currency:	AUD $ ho$	Quote				
Billing Period:	On Demand	Quote Ref. Nbr.:				
Next Billing Date:						
Last Billing Date:	12/10/2020					
Default Location:	RBYTEMAIN - Primary Location					
Terms:	NET30DAYS - Net 30 Days					
Allocation Rule:	P 0					
	Run Allocation on Release of Project Transactions					
Billing Rule:	PROGRESS - Progress Billing 🔎 🖉					
Branch:	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Byte Head Quari 🔎					
Rate Table:	P 0					
	Create Pro Forma on Billing					
	Show Quantity in AIA Report					
	Use T&M Revenue Budget Limits					
	Automatically Release AR Documents					
Retainage (%):	5.00 Use Steps					

Figure: Defining the default retainage for a project

Retainage tracking is supported for progress billing and time and material billing of projects. If the draft invoice (that is, pro forma invoice) workflow is used, the retained amounts are copied from the pro forma invoice to the Accounts Receivable invoice when the latter is created. The screenshot below shows a pro forma invoice of a project with retainage percentages and amounts in the document lines. Also, for a particular project, a user can review the information on the retainage held, released, and paid by invoice on the **Invoices** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000).

Free Status: Closed Customer: Actions - Reports - Reference Nbr: 000055 Project: PR00000104-MEP Restaurant ✓ Progress Billing Total: 147,461.60 Status: Closed Customer: ABCVENTURE - ABC Capital Ventures ✓ Time and Material Total: 0.00 Imolec Date: 3006/2020 Currency: AUD 1.00 ✓ View base Imolec Total: 147,461.60 Description: Invoke for MEP Restaurant ✓ View base Imole: 132,715.44 Progress Billing Time and Material Total Amount Stored Amount Oure: Retainage Total: Imole: Time and Material Total Amount Stored Amount Oure: 132,715.44	o Forma Invoic	es											🗅 Notes	Activities
Reference Nbr:: 000055 Project: PR0000104 - MEP Restaurant // Progress Billing Total: 147.46160 Status: Closed Customer: ABCVENTURE - ABC Capital Ventures // Time and Material Total: 0.00 Invoice Date 3006/2020 Currency: AUD 1.00 + View base invoice Total: 147.46160 Post Period: 12-2020 Currency: AUD 1.00 + View base Post Period: 12-2020 Currency: AUD 1.00 + View base Post Period: 12-2020 Currency: AUD 1.00 + View base Post Period: 12-2020 Currency: AUD 1.40 + View base Post Period: 12-2020 Currency: Audors Details Address Details Progress Billing Time and Material Tax Total: Amount Due: 132.715.44 Progress Billing Time and Material Tax Address Details Address Details Corrence: Financial Details Approval Details Address Details Corrence: Progress Billing	Save & C	lose 🗒 🖍	i K K	> >I Releas	e Actions -	Reports +								
Status: Closed Customer: ABCVENTURE - ABC Capital Ventures Time and Material Total: 0.00 Time and Material Time and Material Total: 0.00 Time and Material /ul>	Reference Nbr.:	000055 ,0	Project:	PR00000104 - MEP Re	estaurant	0 Prog	ress Billing Total:	147,461.6	0					
Hold Location: RBYTEMAIN - Primary Location Tax Total: 0.00 Invoice Date: 3006/2020 Currency: AUD 1.00 × View base Invoice Total: 147.461.60 Post Period: 12-2020 Retainage Total: 14.746.16 Amount Due: 132.715.44 Progress Billing Time and Material Tax Details Financial Details Address Details © + × H Stored Amount Stored Amount to Curre Retainage To Clais Category Sales	Status:	Closed	Customer:	ABCVENTURE - ABC	Capital Ventures	/ Time	and Material Total:	0.0	0					
Imolec Date: 30/06/2020 Currency: AUD 1.00 * View base invoice Total: 147,461.60 Post Period: 12-2020 Retainage Total: 14,7461.60 Description: Imolec for MEP Restaurant 132,715.44 Progress Billing Time and Material Tax Details Financial Details Address Details © + × H Res Resinage Total: Amount Due: 132,715.44 © + × H Res Resinage Total: Currency: Resinage Total: Currency: ® D * Memory Details Address Details Amount Due: 132,715.44		Hold	Location:	RBYTEMAIN - Primary	Location	Tax T	lotal:	0.0	0					
Post Periodi 12-2020 Retainage Total: 14,746.16 Description: Invoice for MEP Restaurant Address Details Address Details Financial Details Address Details O + × H ® Retainage Total: 14,746.16 Amount Due: 132,715.44 CO + × H ®	Invoice Date:	30/06/2020	Currency:	AUD 1.00	- View bas	e Invo	ice Total:	147,461.6	0					
Description: Invoice for MEP Restaurant Amount Due: 132,715.44 Progress Billing Time and Material Tax Details Financial Details Approval Details Address Details O + × H 18 R 0 □ Fisch Project Description Revised Previously Total Amount Stored Amount to Curre Retainage (%) Retainage Collegeopy Sales	Post Period:	12-2020				Reta	inage Total:	14,746.1	6					
Progress Billing Time and Material Tax Details Financial Details Approval Details Address Details	Description:	Invoice for MEP Re	estaurant			Amo	unt Due:	132,715.4	4					
🗟 🖟 🗋 "Branch Project Description Revised Previously Total Amount Stored Amount to Curre Retainage (%) Retainage Collegeory Sales	rogress Billing	Time and Material	Tax Details Financial D	Details Approval Details	Address Deta	ils				_			_	
Task Budgeted Invoiced Completed Material Invoice Invoiced (* Amount Acces	Branch	Project Task	Description	Revised Budgeted Amount	Previously Invoiced	Total Completed (%)	Amount	Stored Material	Amount to Invoice	Curre Invoiced (9	Retainage (%)	Retainage T Amount	< Category	Sales Account
0 RBYTEMAIN 01 General Conditions 49,375.00 0.00 100.00 49,375.00 0.00 49,375.00 100.0 10.00 4,937.50 4000		MAIN 01	General Conditions	49,375.00	0.00	100.00	49,375.00	0.00	49,375.00	100.0	10.00	4,937.50		400000
0 □ RBYTEMAIN 02 Rough-in 137,937.00 0.00 60.00 82,762.20 0.00 82,762.20 60.0 10.00 8,276.22 4000		MAIN 02	Rough-in	137,937.00	0.00	60.00	82,762.20	0.00	82,762.20	60.0	10.00	8,276.22		400000
© □ RBYTEMAIN 03 Trim 115,375.00 0.00 10.00 11,537.50 0.00 11,537.50 10.0 10.00 1,153.75 4000		MAIN 03	Trim	115,375.00	0.00	10.00	11,537.50	0.00	11,537.50	10.0	10.00	1,153.75		400000
© REVTEMAIN 04 Finish 37,869,00 0.00 10.00 3,786.90 0.00 3,786.90 10.0 10.00 378.69 4000														

Figure: Viewing retainage in a pro forma invoice

Retainage in Project Cost Commitments

Project cost commitments are calculated with respect to retainage in purchase orders. The amount values on the Commitments screen (PM306000) include the retained amount, while the related purchase order line itself contains the amount after retainage in the **Amount** box on the **Document Details** tab of the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000). The following elements on the Commitments screen (PM306000) are calculated including the retainage:

- Original Committed Amount
- Committed CO Amount
- Revised Committed Amount
- Committed Open Amount
- Committed Invoiced Amount

On the **Cost Budget** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000), the commitment-related columns display values consistent with those on the Commitments screen (PM306000).

Material Stored Amount in Progress Billing Pro Forma Invoices

A progress billing pro forma invoice supports the scenario of including the material stored amount in the amount to be invoiced. If the "Construction" feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), the following columns are available on the Progress Billing tab of the Pro Forma Invoices screen (PM307000):

- Amount: The original line amount calculated by the progress billing rule
- Material Stored: The amount of the material stored

The value of the **Amount to Invoice** column, which is also located on the **Progress Billing** tab, is calculated as the sum of the values in the **Amount** column and the **Stored Material** column. The following screenshot displays the **Progress Billing** tab of the Pro Forma Invoices screen (PM307000) with material stored amount specified.

Pro Forma Invoic	es								
← Save & C	lose 🗒 🖍	<u> </u>	> > Releas	e Actions 👻	Reports 👻				
Reference Nbr.:	000055 P	Project:	PR00000104 - MEP Re	estaurant	Progr	ress Billing Total:	147,461.6	0	
Status:	Closed	Customer:	ABCVENTURE - ABC (Capital Ventures	2 Time	and Material Total:	0.0	0	
	Hold	Location:	RBYTEMAIN - Primary	Location	Tax To	otal:	0.0	0	
Invoice Date:	30/06/2020	Currency: AUD 1.00 - View base			Invoid	ce Total:	147,461.60		
Post Period: 12-2020					Retainage To		14,746.1		
Description:	Invoice for MEP	Restaurant			Amou	unt Due:	132,715.4	4	
Progress Billing $\circlearrowright + \times$	Time and Material	Tax Details Financial De	tails Approval Details	Address Details	5				
3 🕕 🗋 *Branch	Project Task	Description	Revised Budgeted Amount	Previously Invoiced	Total Completed (%)	Amoun	Stored Material	Amount to Invoice	Current Invoiced (%)
	MAIN 01	General Conditions	49,375.00	0.00	100.00	49,375.00	0.00	49,375.00	100.00
	MAIN 02	Rough-in	137,937.00	0.00	60.00	82,762.20	0.00	82,762.20	60.00
	MAIN 03	Trim	115,375.00	0.00	10.00	11,537.50	0.00	11,537.50	10.00
	MAIN 04	Finish	37,869.00	0.00	10.00	3,786.90	0.00	3,786.90	10.00

Figure: Specifying the Stored Material column

Production Data Tracking

A new set of columns is available on the **Cost Budget** tab of the Projects screen (PM301000) if the **Track Production Data** check box is selected on the **Summary** tab of this screen for the project. The new columns, which reflect the current production values, are:

- **Cost to Complete**: The current projected amount that is required to complete the cost budget line, as reported from the field.
- **Cost at Completion**: The current projected total cost amount of the cost budget line, as reported from the field.
- **Percentage of Completion**: The current approximate percentage of project completion that corresponds to the cost budget line, as reported from the field.

Note: The importing of data into these columns can be scheduled on a regular basis by means of an import scenario or with a web service API call.

The additional columns listed below have been added to the Cost Budget tab of the Projects screen so that users can import extra information to be tracked in the system and analysed against the budget figures. The columns are intended primarily for capturing production data that can be regularly received from the field to support the following scenarios:

- The project manager has access to the current production values and can compare them to the planned budget figures to determine the project productivity at the moment.
- The project manager can build the production trend based on the history of the imported values to determine if any corrective actions need to be taken to reach the planned values.

Every time a new value is entered into one of the columns listed above and the user's changes are saved, the system copies the previous value in the column to one of the following corresponding columns:

- Last Cost to Complete: The previous Cost to Complete value
- Last Cost at Completion: The previous Cost at Completion value
- Last Percentage of Completion: The previous Percentage of Completion value

The columns described in this section are available in the PMBudget table for generic inquiries and Report Designer reports. The history of values that were imported into the current production columns is stored in the new PMBudgetProduction table, which is also available for use in custom generic inquiries and Report Designer reports. If necessary, the set of production columns can be extended by means of standard customization techniques. For instance, hours to complete, hours at completion, and other metrics can be added.

Improvements to the Project Balance Report

The following enhancements have been introduced in the Project Balance report (PM621000):

- Project and task report input parameters
- Subtotals by project task and balance type
- Project totals by balance type, with the profitability margin calculated as total income minus total expenses
- Enhanced layout
- Improved error and warning messages to help the user to troubleshoot issues The updated Project Balance report (PM621000) is shown in the following screenshot.

Company: User:	Company construction									Page: Date: 13/10	1 of 7 0/2020 8:45 AM
Project Ba	alance by Task	(
Project: Customer:	PR00000109 EQUGRP	The Beach Hotel and Co The Equity Group Invest	ondominiums ors						Status:	Active	
Task:	01	GENERAL REQUIREME	INTS								
Acc	ount Group	Description	Inventory ID	Cost Code	UOM	Budgeted Qty.	Budgeted Amt.	Revised Qty.	Revised Amt.	Actual Qty.	Actual Amt.
Exp	ense										
L	LABOUR	Labour	<n a=""></n>	01-311	HOUR	240.00	12000.00	240.00	12000.00	0.00	0.00
L	LABOUR	Labour	<n a=""></n>	01-313	HOUR	300.00	14400.00	300.00	14400.00	0.00	0.00
0	OTHEREXP	Other Expenses	<n a=""></n>	01-300	LS	1.00	15000.00	1.00	15000.00	0.00	0.00
0	OTHEREXP	Other Expenses	<n a=""></n>	01-505	EA	2.00	15000.00	2.00	15000.00	0.00	0.00
0	OTHEREXP	Other Expenses	<n a=""></n>	01-600	LS	1.00	380455.71	1.00	380455.71	0.00	0.00
E	BURDEN	Allocated Project Burder	1 <n a=""></n>	00-000		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
E	EQUIPMENT	Equipment	<n a=""></n>	00-000		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			Expense To	tal (AUD):		544.00	436855.71	544.00	436855.71	0.00	0.00
Inco	ome										
F	REVENUE	Revenue	<n a=""></n>	00-000	LS	0.00	4154366.00	0.00	4154366.00	0.00	3115774.50
			Income Tot	al (AUD):		0.00	4154366.00	0.00	4154366.00	0.00	3115774.50
Task:	<u>02</u>	SITEWORK									
Acc	ount Group	Description	Inventory ID	Cost Code	UOM	Budgeted Qty.	Budgeted Amt.	Revised Qty.	Revised Amt.	Actual Qty.	Actual Amt.
Exp	ense										
5	SUBCON	Expenses -	<n a=""></n>	02-200	LS	1.00	365194.00	1.00	365194.00	0.00	0.00
5	SUBCON	Expenses - Subcontractor	<n a=""></n>	02-310	LS	1.00	226315.00	1.00	226315.00	0.00	0.00
			Expense To	tal (AUD):		2.00	591509.00	2.00	591509.00	0.00	0.00
Inco	ome										
- Inco	REVENUE	Revenue	<n 4=""></n>	00-000	15	0.00	1809185-00	0.00	1809185.00	0.00	1809185.00
		rio fondo			20	0.00	1000100.00	0.00	1000100.00	0.00	1000100.00
			Income Tot	al (AUD):		0.00	1809185.00	0.00	1809185.00	0.00	1809185.00

Figure: Viewing enhancements to the Project Balance report

Users can access the Project Balance report (PM621000) from the Projects screen (PM301000) by selecting the **Print Project Balance** command on the Reports dropdown, as the following screenshot shows.

Projects							
← Save & Close 🖹 ∽	+ 🔟 I< < >	>I Run Project Bi	illing Create Change	Request Create Change Ore	der Actions +	Inquiries 👻	Reports +
* Project ID:	PR00000109	P * Status:	Active -	Actual Income:	13,411,971.10		Print Project Balance
Customer:	EQUGRP - The Equity Group Investor	P 0	Hold	Actual Expenses:	10,394,636.30		
Template:	CONPROGRES - Construction Progres	ss /		Margin:	3,017,334.80	96:	22.50
* Description:	The Beach Hotel and Condominiums						
Currency Rate for Budget:	AUD 1.00 - View bas	e					
Summary Balances Cost Budget	Commitments Change Orders Revenue	ue Budget Invoices A	Approval Details Tasks	Employees Change Requests	Union Locals E	quipment Activ	vity History Settings Attributes

Figure: Accessing the report from a project

Substantiated Billing

In the construction industry, when contractors bill their customers, the customers may want to see proof of the costs. In this case, contractors need to provide supporting documentation along with the customer statement or invoice.

MYOB Advanced Construction Edition allows emailing a substantiated billing report for a specific billing period to retrieve costs and scanned or uploaded images associated with the costs. The substantiated billing report provides a list of costs from payable invoices, labour, and other project expenses, in addition to hyperlinks to attached documents.

For example, if a payable invoice has a scanned image of the supplier invoice attached, a hyperlink to that image is included in the substantiated billing report. A user can see the image by selecting the hyperlink and entering guest credentials into the MYOB Advanced sign-in page. As a result, the user does not need to download, compress, and send large file attachments.

Supported Billing Types

The functionality supports the following types of project billing:

- Progress billing
- Time and Material billing
- Cost Plus billing

Configuring the System for the Substantiated Billing Report

To be able to use the Substantiated Billing report (shown in the screenshot below), perform the following steps:

- 1. On the Attributes screen (CS205000), create an attribute with the following settings:
 - Attribute ID: APPID
 - **Description**: Application Link
 - Control Type: Text
 - **Reg. Exp.**: Enter the URL of the site from which the hyperlinks will launch. Make sure to include the forward slash at the end of the URL, for example, https://companyname.myobadvanced.com/ or https://companyname.myobadvanced.com/instancename/
- 2. In the Substantiated Billing report, enter the project and the billing period range from which costs should be listed.

Substantiated Billin	ng 🛧
	Report Save Template Remove Template Schedule Template
Template	×*
	Default Shared
Report Parameters	Additional Sort and Filters Print and Email Settings
* Project:	٩
* From Date	1/10/2020 -
* To Date	13/10/2020 -

Figure: Substantiated Billing report

Integration with Weather Services

Integration with an external weather service can be set up so that weather conditions are automatically loaded for daily field reports that haven't been completed yet.

Configuring Integration with an External Weather Service

MYOB Advanced Construction Edition supports integration with the following weather services:

- OpenWeatherMap
- WeatherBit
- AccuWeather

Note: Each of the weather services provides only a limited number of free API calls. For details, see the descriptions of available subscriptions for the particular service.

Before an administrator starts configuring the integration with an external weather service, he or she needs to subscribe for the service and receive an API key.

On the **Weather Service Integration Settings** tab of the Project Management Preferences screen (PJ101000), shown in the screenshot below, the **Enable Weather Service Integration for Daily Field Reports** check box should be selected so that the other settings on the tab become available.

Project Management Preferences 🛛 🖄

Ś					
neral Settings Da	ily Field Report Copy Setting	s Weather Service Integration Se	tings S	Submittal Settings	
eneral Settings					
eneral Settings	Service Integration for Daily	Field Reports	at Dur	City and Country	-
eneral Settings Enable Weather Weather API Servio	Service Integration for Daily e: OpenWeatherMap	Field Reports	est By:	City And Country	•
eneral Settings Caller Controls Caller API Servio Weather API Servio Weather API Key:	Service Integration for Daily ce: OpenWeatherMap	Field Reports - Requ	est By:	City And Country Test Connection	Ŧ
eneral Settings Enable Weather Weather API Servi Weather API Key: UOM Format:	Service Integration for Daily ce: OpenWeatherMap ******** Metric	Field Reports Requ En	est By: able Wea	City And Country Test Connection ather Processing Log	Ŧ

Figure: Weather Service Integration Settings tab

The following settings should be specified for correct integration with the selected weather service:

- Weather API Service: The weather service to be integrated with the daily field reports.
- Weather API Key: The API key provided by the weather service after subscription for that service has been activated.
- **UOM Format**: The format, metric or imperial, for representing the numerical values of temperature, wind speed, and precipitation.

- **Request By**: The parameters to be used in an API call for automatic retrieval of the weather conditions for the project site. These parameters are defined by the settings of the related project, which are specified in the Project Properties group of settings on the Summary tab of the Projects screen (PM301000). The following options are available:
 - *Zip Code and Country*: Information about weather conditions is retrieved for a combination of country and zip code. This option is available only for OpenWeatherMap and WeatherBit.
 - City and Country: Information about weather conditions is retrieved for a combination of country and city. This option is available only for OpenWeatherMap and WeatherBit.
 - Geographic Location: Information about weather conditions is retrieved for a set of coordinates (latitude and longitude) that define the site location. This option is available for all three supported weather services.

To verify that correct settings have been specified and that the selected weather service responds to the API calls, an administrator should click **Test Connection**. A green check mark appears on the screen toolbar if the test connection is successful.

The **Enable Weather Processing Log** check box indicates, if selected, that all API calls to the external weather service and all responses from that service are logged on the Daily Field Report Weather Processing Log screen (PJ404000)—see "Weather Services Screens" on page 68 below for details about the screen.

In the **Weather Processing Log Term (Days)** box, an administrator specifies the number of days after which the records from the processing log appear on the Clear Daily Field Report Weather Processing Log screen (PJ504010)—see "Weather Services Screens" on page 68 below for details about the screen. This box is available only if the **Enable Weather Processing Log** check box is selected.

Changes to the Projects Screen

The following settings that specify the site location are available in the Project Properties group of settings on the Summary tab of the Projects screen (PM301000), as shown in the screenshot below:

- **City**: The city of the project site's location
- **Country**: The country of the site location
- **State**: The state or province of the site location
- **Postal Code**: The postal code of the site location
- View on Map: A button that opens the site location on the map specified on the Site Preferences screen (SM200505)
- Latitude: The latitude of the site's geographic location
- Longitude: The longitude of the site's geographic location

A combination of these settings is used as parameters of an API call sent to the weather service, depending on the option selected in the **Request By** box on the **Weather Service Integration Settings** tab of the Project Management Preferences screen (PJ101000).

rojects															
← Sa	ve & Close		ŝ	+ 🗈	I< <	> >	Run Project	t Billing Create	Change	Request	Create Change Or	der Action:	s 👻 Inquiri	es 👻 Reports 🗸	~
* Project I	ID:			PR0000010	9	,p	Status:	Active	Ŧ	Actual	Income:	13,411,971.1	10		
Custom	er:			EQUGRP -	The Equity Group I	nvestor 🔎 🧷		Hold		Actual	Expenses:	10,394,636.3	30		
Summary	Balances	Cost Bud	dget	Commitments	Change Orders	Revenue Budget	Invoices	Approval Details	Tasks	Employees	Change Requests	Union Locals	Equipment	Activity History	Settings
Project Pr	operties						Bill-to -								
Revenue	e Budget Le	evel: T	Task an	d Cost Code		*				erride Contac					
Cost Bu	dget Level:	Т	Task an	d Cost Code		*	Comp	any Name:	The l	Equity Group	Investors				
* Start Da	te:	7	7/01/20)20 -			Attent	ion:							
End Dat	e:			-			Phone	e 1:							
Project I	Manager:	E	EP000	00005 - Palme	er Michael, Mr.	0	Email:		eqg@	@equity.con.a	u				
Site Add	dress:	3	30 Free	derick Street			BILL-TO	ADDRESS							
City:		C	Gold C	oast						erride Addres	5				
Country		A	4U - AI	USTRALIA		Q	Addre	ss Line 1:							
State:						Q	Addre	ss Line 2:							
Postal C	ode:	4	4217	Vie	ew on Map		City:								
Latitude	6						Count	ry:	AU -	AUSTRALIA					
Longitu	de:						State:								
Last Rev	enue Chan	ge N C	0002				Postal	Code:							
* Project (Currency:	4	AUD	,O Se	t Rates		RETAIN	AGE							
Currenc	y Rate Type	e: S	SPOT	20			Retain	age Mode:	Stand	lard		*			

Figure: Settings for the project site location

Changes to the Daily Field Report Screen

In the Summary area of the Daily Field Report screen (PJ304000), a group of elements displays the project site's location settings and the latest available information about the weather conditions (shown in the following screenshot), which is copied from the **Weather** tab.

On the table toolbar of the **Weather** tab, the **Load Weather Conditions** button has been added (also shown in the screenshot below). By clicking this button, the user loads the latest information about the weather conditions on the project site provided by the integrated weather service. Each time the user clicks the button, a new row is added to the table and the information about the weather conditions in the Summary area of the screen is updated correspondingly. The Load Weather Conditions button is available only if the **Enable Weather Service Integration for Daily Field Reports** check box is selected on the Weather Service Integration Settings tab of the Project Management Preferences screen (PJ101000) and only for the daily field reports that are on hold.

			Project:	PR00000109 -	The Beach Ho 🔎	Site Address:	30 Frederick Street		Temperature:	21.64
atus:	On Hold	* p	Project Manager:	EP0000005 -	Palmer Michae 🔎	City:	Gold Coast		Humidity(%):	64.00
	🗹 Hold	C	Created By:	construction - o	construction	Country:	AU - AUSTRALIA	Q.		
R Date:	12/10/2020 *					State:		Q,		
						Postal Code:	4217 Vi	ew on Map		
						Latitude:				
						Longitude:			Time Observed:	8:52 AM
r Time And Activ	vities Change Requests	Change Orders	Subcontractors	Project Issues	Photo Logs Notes	Equipment Weath	er Visitors Employe	e Expenses A	pprovals History	

Figure: Weather elements on the Daily Field Report screen

Weather Services Screens

The following screens specific to weather conditions are available:

• Load Daily Field Report Weather Conditions (PJ504000): On this screen, the user can process selected or all listed daily field reports. As a result, information about weather conditions at the project sites is loaded to the processed daily field reports. Only daily field reports with the On Hold status and with the date matching the current business date are listed on the screen.

The screen is available only if the integration with a weather service is properly configured on the Project Management Preferences screen (PJ101000).

L	Load Daily Field Report Weather Conditions 🕁											
	Ò	¥	2	Process Process	s All 🖒 👻 ↔	x Y						
	P	roject	t:			Q						
8	0			DFR ID	Status	DFR Date	Project	Project Manager	Created By			
>	0	\square		DFR-000003	On Hold	13/10/2020	PR00000109	EP0000005	construction			
	0			DFR-000002	On Hold	13/10/2020	PR00000106	EP00000006	james_field			

Figure: Load Daily Field Report Weather Conditions screen

• Daily Field Report Weather Processing Log (PJ404000): On this screen, the user can review the weather processing log to see if information about weather conditions has been successfully loaded to daily field reports. Each record in the log corresponds to one API call to the selected weather service. By using the filters in the Selection area, the user can filter records by project and weather service or choose to view errors only. In the **Body Request** column, the entire body of an API call to the external system is logged, and in the **Response Body** column, the full response from the external system is logged.

The screen is available only if integration with a weather service is properly configured and the **Enable Weather Processing Log** check box is selected on the Weather Service Integration Settings tab of the Project Management Preferences screen.

D	aily Field Report W	eather Proces	sing Log 🕁									
	Project: Weather API Servic	ce:		P R ▼ R	equest Date From: equest Date To:	9/10/2020	r Only					
	⊠ (⊷) 🖄											
8	DFR ID	Status	DFR Date	Project	Project Manager	Created By	Weather Service	Request Time	Request Body	~	Response Time	Response Body
>	DFR-000003	On Hold	13/10/2020	PR00000109	EP0000005	construction	OpenWeatherMap	13/10/2020 9:3	http://api	0	13/10/2020 9:	: {"coord":{"l
	DFR-000002	On Hold	13/10/2020	PR00000106	EP00000006	james_field	OpenWeatherMap	13/10/2020 9:3	http://api	0	13/10/2020 9:	E {"coord":{"l
	DFR-000003	On Hold	13/10/2020	PR00000109	EP0000005	construction	OpenWeatherMap	12/10/2020 8:5	http://api	0	12/10/2020 8:	! {"coord":{"l

Figure 15: Daily Field Report Weather Processing Log screen

Clear Daily Field Report Weather Processing Log (PJ504010): The table on this screen includes all records from the processing log that are older than the number of days specified in the Weather Processing Log Term (Days) box on the Weather Service Integration Settings tab of the Project Management Preferences screen. These records can be permanently deleted so that the log does not grow uncontrollably. The user can mass delete the selected or all listed records on this screen, or an automation schedule can be set up.

The screen is available only if integration with a weather service is properly configured and the **Enable Weather Processing Log** check box is selected on the Weather Service Integration Settings tab of the Project Management Preferences screen.

Taxable Payment Reporting (TPAR)

Australia only

Australian businesses in the building and construction industries that make payments to contractors for building and construction services are required to report these payments to the Australian Tax Office (ATO) on the "Taxable payments annual report" (TPAR).

See "<u>Taxable payments annual report (TPAR)</u>" on the ATO website for more information.

This release introduces features that allow organisations to track taxable payments in MYOB Advanced and report them on the Taxable payments annual report.

Note: MYOB Advanced supports the use of document-level inclusive and exclusive GST in the transactions reported.

Enabling Payment Tracking

Tracking payments for TPAR reporting can be turned on or off at several levels in the MYOB Advanced System. The Supplier Classes screen (AP201000) contains a new **Track for TPAR** option—when this option is ticked, any new suppliers that are created with this class will track payments for TPAR by default. A new **Apply TPAR to all Suppliers** toolbar button is available to apply the current **Track for TPAR** setting to all suppliers of this class:

Supplier Classes									
🗲 Save & Close 🖺	∽ +	Û - Û	к	< >	> >	Apply Restr	riction Settings to all Supp	oliers	Apply TPAR Settings to all Suppliers
* Class ID: Description:	ADV Advertising	Q							
General Settings GL Account	nts Attributes	Mailing Settings							
Default General Settings				Default Fina	ancial Settir	ngs			
Country:	AU - AUSTRA	LIA 🔎	0	Terms:		NET21	DAYS - Net 21 Days 🔗	0	
Tax Zone ID:	DOMESTIC	Q.	0	Payment I	Method:	CHEQU	JE - Cheque Payment 🔎	0	
	🛃 Require Tax 2	Zone		Cash Acco	ount:		Q	0	
Tax Calculation Mode:	Tax Settings	*		Payment I	By:	Due Da	te -		
	Default Loca	tion ID from Branch		Currency	ID:	AUD		Overrid	le
Default Restriction Group:		م		Curr. Rate	Type:	SPOT		rride	
Default Purchase Settings							Deteinege		
Shipping Terms:		0,				🗹 Track	for TPAR		
Receipt Action:	Reject	-		Default Prin	nt and Emai	l Settings			
						🗹 Print (Orders		
						🗹 Send	Orders by Email		
				Send R	emittances	by Email	Print Remittances		

The **Track for TPAR** setting can be set for individual suppliers on the Suppliers screen (AP303000). When **Track for TPAR** is ticked, extra fields become available:

Suppliers				
← Save & Close [ο + 0 · 0 κ	<	> >I Act	tions - Inquiries - Reports -
* Supplier ID:	V00000013	Statu	s: Active *	Balance: 0.00
* Supplier Name:	Blueline Advertisements			Prepayment Balance: 0.00
				Retained Balance: 0.00
General Info Payment Set	tings Purchase Settings Locations Cor	ntacts	Attributes Activities	GL Accounts Mailing Settings
Main Contact			Financial Settings	
Company Name:	Blueline Advertisements		* Supplier Class:	ADV - Advertising
Attention:			Terms:	NET21DAYS - Net 21 Days
Email:			Currency ID:	AUD ,O Enable Currency Override
Web:		Z	Curr. Rate Type:	SPOT ,P Enable Rate Override
Phone 1:			Supplier Properties	
Phone 2:				Landed Cost Supplier
Fax:				Supplier is Tax Agency
Account Ref.#:				Staff Member in Service Management
Parent Account:		20	7 TPAR Settings	
Main Address				✓ Track for TPAR
Address Line 1:	2106 MOUNT BARKER ROAD		ABN:	12 345 678 901
Address Line 2:			TPAR Location:	MAIN
City:	HAHNDORF		Ferfondi Data Fritor	,
* Country:	AU - AUSTRALIA	Q	Consented to th	he Processing of Personal Data
State:	SA - South Australia	ρ	Date of Consent:	3/08/2020 -
Postal Code:	View on Map		Consent Expires:	•

The **ABN** field should contain the Australian Business Number that will be used for this supplier when filing the TPAR. The ABN entered here will be used for TPAR reporting only.

The **TPAR Location** field is an optional setting that lets you specify a location to use for TPAR reporting, to determine address, contact and banking details for the supplier. You can use this if you've set up a specific location with an ATO-registered address details for TPAR.

Tracking Payments

A **Track for TPAR** option has been added to the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000). When **Track for TPAR** is ticked for a supplier, any bills raised for that supplier will also have their **Track for TPAR** option ticked; however, you can change this option for individual bills as necessary. Once a bill is released, the **Track for TPAR** option becomes read-only, but it is still possible to change its status using the new **Track for TPAR** / **Stop tracking for TPAR** actions:

Type:	Bill -	Supplier:	SUPP	1002 - Supplier 10	02	0	Detail Tota	Approve	- 11			
Reference Nbr.:	001463 ,P	Location:	RBYT	EMAIN - Primary L	ocation		Discount '		- 11			
Status:	Open	Currency:	AUD	1.00	view base		GST Taxab	Pay Bill/Apply Adjustmer	nt			
	Hold	Terms:	CASH	ONLY - Cash Only			GST Exem	Reverse	- 11			
Date:	31/07/2020	* Due Date:	31/07/	2020 -			Tax Total:		- 11			
Post Period:	01-2021	* Prompt Pay	me 31/07/	2020 👻 🗹 Tra	ck for TPAR		With. Tax:	Add to Schedule	- 11			
Supplier Ref.:							Balance:		- 11			
							Amount:		- 11			
Description:							Prompt Pa	Reclassify GL Batch	- 11			
	stand to the	T. D. L. L.	10.1.1		A seal front from			Void	_			
Document Details	Financial Details	lax Details App	roval Details	Discount Details	Applications			Stop tracking for TPAR				
O + 0	× View S	chedule Add P	O Receipt	Add PO Receipt L	ine Add PO	Add	PO Line	Release Retainage		1.		
0 🗋 *Branch	Invente	ory ID Tran	saction Descr.			Qua	ntity UOM	Unit Cost	Ext. Co	st	Discount Amount	Amount
	1AIN						1.00	0.00	1 000.0	0	0.00	1 000.00

These new actions allow you to turn on tracking for historical payments from the current financial year that were released before the MYOB Advanced system was upgraded to 2020.4.

Note	: You can also	b track histor	rical bills or	n the new	TPAR Review	Supplier F	^D ayments
	inquiry scree	en—see pag	je 73.				

On the Cheques and Payments screen (AP302000), the table on the Documents to Apply tab has a new read-only **Track for TPAR** column, which shows the TPAR status of all bills included in the payment:

Cheques And Pay	ments											
← Save & Clo	ose 🗎	5	+ 🗊 🗘	- <	> >I Rele	ase Void	Actions 👻	Inquiries 👻	Reports 👻			
Type:	Payment	Ŧ	Supplier:	SUPP1 - Supplie	r1	0 Payn	nent Amount:		1,056	00		
Reference Nbr.:	<new></new>	Q	* Location:	RBYTEMAIN - Pr	RBYTEMAIN - Primary Location			Unapplied Balance:		.00		
Status:	Status: Balanced * Payment Meth		CASH	,O Appl	Application Amount:		1,056.00					
	🗌 Hold		* Cash Account:	100016 - AU WB	C Bank Corp Accour	r 🔎 🛛 Finar	nce Charges:		0.	.00		
* Post Date:	3/08/2020	-	Currency:	AUD 1.00	 View ba 	se						
* Post Period:	02-2021	Q	Description:									
* Payment Ref.:												
Documents to App	oly Applica	tion History	Financial Details	Approval Details	Remittance Informa	ation Finance Ch	narges					
ک + ×	Load D	ocuments	↔ X									
🗄 🕡 🗋 Branch		Document T	Type Track For TPAR	Reference Nbr.	Amount Paid	Cash Discount Taken	With. Tax	Date	Due Date	Prompt Payment Disc. Date	Cross Rate	Balanc
> 0 D RBYTEM	IAIN	Bill		01471	616.00	0.00	0.00	3/08/2020	3/08/2020	3/08/2020	1.00000000	0.00
	AIN	Bill		01472	440.00	0.00	0.00	3/08/2020	3/08/2020	3/08/2020	1.00000000	0.00

TPAR Reporting

This release adds two inquiries and two reports, which let you view detailed and summary information about TPAR payments and produce the TPAR report for sending to the ATO.

Note: These inquiries and reports always reports on a single financial year: 1 July – 30 June. The system check payments' **Post Date** field to see if they should be included in the TPAR report for a year—the **Post Period** is not used.

TPAR Summary

The TPAR Summary inquiry (MBTX4010) displays data for a selected company and financial year, and allows you to generate a TPAR file for submission to the ATO. It shows a summary of TPAR amounts for each supplier:

TP	TPAR Summary 🛧											
(Č Export TPAR File ▼ Reports ▼ ⊷ 🗵 🍸											
Company:		RBYTEMAIN - Rap	id Byte Head Quarl 🔎									
	Tax Year:	2021	Q									
00	Supplier ID	Supplier Name	ABN	TPAR Amount	Withholding Payments	GST	Non-TPAR Amount Address Line 1	Address Line 2	City			
>	PBTECH	PB Tech Manukau	ABN PB Tec	66.00	0.00	6.00	0.00 Manukau 1	Manukau 2				
	SUPP1	Supplier 1	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP10	Supplier 10	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP100	Supplier 100	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1000	Supplier 1000	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1001	Supplier 1001	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1002	Supplier 1002	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1003	Supplier 1003	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1004	Supplier 1004	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1005	Supplier 1005	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1006	Supplier 1006	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1007	Supplier 1007	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1008	Supplier 1008	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1009	Supplier 1009	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP101	Supplier 101	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1010	Supplier 1010	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1011	Supplier 1011	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					
	SUPP1012	Supplier 1012	8888889	610.50	0.00	55.50	0.00					

Clicking on the amount in the **TPAR Amount** column opens the TPAR Review Supplier Payments inquiry in a separate window, showing details of the payments included in the selected supplier's TPAR amount (see page 73).

To produce a TPAR file for submission to the ATO, us the options in the **Export TPAR File** dropdown:

- Validate TPAR file Validates all the data in the submission file to ensure the correct address, name, bank, ABN etc information is valid for submission to the ATO. A text file is created, which will either list any data that needs to be updated for each supplier, or a message saying that the validation was successful.
- Generate TPAR file Generates a TPAR export file for the selected company and year. This file can then be lodged with the ATO—see <u>"Lodging your TPAR" on the ATO website</u> for details.
- **Note:** You do not have to validate the file before generating it, but we strongly recommend that you do.

This screen also has a **Reports** dropdown, which gives access to the TPAR Summary Report and TPAR Details Report (see page 73).
TPAR Review Supplier Payments

The TPAR Review Supplier Payments inquiry screen (MPTX4011) shows all payments for the selected company and supplier over the selected financial year. Individual transactions, can be marked as tracked or not tracked for TPAR:

TPAR Review Suppli	ier Payments 🕁							
0 E v	Reports ▼	1						
Company:	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Byte	e Head Quarl 🔎	Total Supplier T	PAR Amount:	1,610.50			
Tax Year:	2021	Q	Total GST:		55.50			
Supplier:	SUPP999 - Supplier 999	20	Total Withholdir	ng Amount:	490.00			
			Total Non-Repo	rting Amount:	0.00			
🖹 🖟 🗋 Company	Document Type (Bill)	Reference Nbr. (Bill)	Document Type (Payment)	Reference Nbr. (Payment)	Amount Paid	GST	Withholding Payments	Track For TPAR
> 🕕 🗅 RBYTEMA	IN Bill	001418	СНК	001153	610.50	55.50	0.00	\checkmark
0 🗋 RBYTEMA	IN Bill	001476	СНК	001202	510.00	0.00	490.00	

Note: The **Amount Paid** column shows the amount that is eligible for TPAR, less any withholding payment amount.

The **Reports** dropdown gives access to the TPAR Details Report for the selected supplier (see page 74).

TPAR Summary Report

The TPAR Summary Report (MBTX6040) provides a printable report that shows the same data that appears on the TPAR Summary inquiry screen:

Taxable Payments Annual Report -	Summary						
Rapid Byte Head Quarters 301 Sussex Street							Financial Year 2021
Melbourne							
ABN: 12345677298							
Supplier	ABN	TPAR Amount	GST Paid	Withholding Tax	Non-TPAR Amount	Supplier Address	Supplier Address 2/City
V000000001 - ABC Studios Inc.		1100.00	6800.00	0.00	0.00	LEVEL 3, 187 TODD ROAD	
V00000037 - Excilseor Hotel		5500.00	500.00	0.00	0.00		
V00000086 - Newcastle Corporation	77 777 777 777	3465.00	915.00	0.00	6600.00	SOUTH MELBOURNE	
T0001 - TPAR Supplier 1		12100.00	1200.00	0.00	1100.00	16 Demo Place	Glen Eden Auckland
PBTECH - PB Tech Manukau		66.00	6.00	0.00	0.00	Manukau 1	Manukau 2
SUPP1 - Supplier 1	88 888 889	1666.50	151.50	0.00	0.00		
SUPP2 - Supplier 2	88 888 889	610.50	55.50	0.00	0.00		
SUPP3 - Supplier 3	88 888 889	610.50	55.50	0.00	0.00		
SUPP4 - Supplier 4	88 888 889	610.50	55.50	0.00	0.00		
SUPP5 - Supplier 5	88 888 889	610.50	55.50	0.00	0.00		
SUPP6 - Supplier 6	88 888 889	610.50	55.50	0.00	0.00		
SUPP7 - Supplier 7	88 888 889	610.50	55.50	0.00	0.00		

TPAR Details Report

The TPAR Details Report (MBTX6041) provides a printable report that shows the TPARtracked transactions for a specific supplier, as they would appear on the TPAR Review Supplier Payments screen:

Taxable Payments for Suppliers Financial Year 2021					
Rapid Byte He 301 Sussex S	ead Quarters street				
Melbourne					
ABN: 123	45677298				
Supplier 1					
ABN: 88 88	889				
Date	Source	Ref. Number Description	Amount Paid	GST Paid	Withholding Tax
3/08/2020	Bill	001198	440.00	40.00	0.00
3/08/2020	Bill	001198	616.00	56.00	0.00
		000154	610 50	55 50	0.00
21/07/2020	Bill	000154	010.00	33.50	0.00